

East Tennessee State University Digital Commons @ East **Tennessee State University**

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Student Works

5-2004

Variants of Volunteerism among Mature Adults within Communities of Northeast Tennessee.

Martha Wilcox Edwards East Tennessee State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://dc.etsu.edu/etd



Part of the Sociology Commons

Recommended Citation

Edwards, Martha Wilcox, "Variants of Volunteerism among Mature Adults within Communities of Northeast Tennessee." (2004). Electronic Theses and Dissertations. Paper 979. https://dc.etsu.edu/etd/ 979

This Thesis - unrestricted is brought to you for free and open access by the Student Works at Digital Commons @ East Tennessee State University. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Digital Commons @ East Tennessee State University. For more information, please contact digilib@etsu.edu.

A thesis

presented to

The faculty of the Department of Sociology

East Tennessee State University

in partial fulfillment
of the requirements for the degree
Master of Arts in Sociology

by

Martha Wilcox Edwards

May 2004

Dr. Scott H. Beck, Chair Dr. Wendell H. Hester Dr. Martha Copp

Keywords: gerontology, volunteering, older volunteers, variants of volunteerism, intergenerational volunteerism, mature adults

ABSTRACT

Variants of Volunteerism among Mature Adults within Communities of Northeast Tennessee

by

Martha W. Edwards

A purposive study conducted among mature adults aged 55 and older in Northeast

Tennessee examined variants of volunteerism as well as volunteer needs of agencies and organizations and what percent of volunteers in those agencies fall within the specified age group. Mature volunteers in the region match profiles of other studies – predominantly white, married, homeowners, who are protestant, females with educational levels beyond high school, and who have income levels above the regional average. Findings show that most volunteers attend religious services at least once each week but found no association between gender and informal volunteerism, between health and volunteerism, or that rural volunteers are more likely to participate in informal volunteer activities. Results were analyzed using the chi-square test of statistical significance.

For James Earl and Reagan Michelle.

Thank you for your love, your support, and your believing.

I love you.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to express my deep appreciation to my advisory committee, Dr. Scott Beck, Dr. Martha Copp, and Dr. Wendell Hester. Each of you has had a positive effect on my interest in sociology and particularly you have given me confidence that I could succeed in this endeavor. This experience has been especially important because I waited so long to attempt it, but good things do come to those who wait. It is never too late to follow a dream.

Thank you, Dr. Beck, for the lessons in research and methodology and especially the editing and the "red marks" that spurred thoughts beyond the obvious. Thank you for helping to keep me focused and successful in attaining the graduate certificate in gerontology. Dr. Hester, thank you for your time, your effort, and your knowledge in steering me through the on-line census data and Internet links that were very helpful. Further, your computer repair skills also were very helpful during the course of events. Dr. Copp, you first gave me the glimmer of a dream-come-true for graduate study and the opportunities that followed. Thank you for your advisement. Additionally, your seminars have opened up new awareness for me in a variety of areas. It has been my fortunate pleasure to learn from each of you.

I thank my two wonderful children who have encouraged me and shown an interest in my accomplishments. For the love and understanding of all my family and friends, their unwavering trust in me, and their encouragement, I feel truly blessed. Thank you, one and all.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
ABSTRACT	2
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	4
LIST OF TABLES	7
Chapter	
1. VOLUNTEERISM	8
Statement of the Problem	10
Significance of the Problem	11
Plan of Research and Data Source	12
2. REVIEW OF RELAVANT LITERATURE	15
Collectivistic Roots of Volunteerism vs. Cultural Individualism	15
Demographic Profile of Older Volunteers	19
Stability of Volunteers	22
Intergenerational Volunteerism	23
Leisure Activities	24
Benefits of Volunteering.	26
Religion and Volunteering	28
Sociological Theories and Volunteering	30
3. RESEARCH METHODOLOGY	33
The Instrument	35
Conceptualization and Operationalization of Variables	36
Hypotheses	39
Statistical Analysis	39
4. DESCRIPTION OF THE SAMPLE AND HYPOTHESES TESTING	40
Survey of Variants of Volunteerism	40

Agency/Organization Questionnaire Regarding Volunteerism	60
Testing the Hypotheses	64
5. SUMMARY AND DISCUSSION	71
Suggestions for Further Research	74
REFERENCES	76
APPENDICES	82
Appendix A: Agency/Organization Questionnaire Regarding Volunteerism	82
Appendix B: Survey of Variants of Volunteerism	84
VITA	90

LIST OF TABLES

Γable	Page
1. Age of Respondents	41
2. Education Level	42
3. Distribution of Household Income	44
4. Distribution of Religious Affiliation	46
5. Church or Religious Service Attendance	47
6. Political Affiliation	49
7. Leisure Activities of Respondents	50
8. Volunteer Activities in Helping Others	53
9. Volunteerism	54
10. Group Categories Serviced by Volunteers	57
11. Primary Reasons for Volunteering	58
12. Reported Barriers to Volunteerism	61
13. Agency Responses to Questionnaire	62
14. Cross-tabulation of Weekly Religious Service Attendance and	
Working as a Volunteer	67
15. Cross-tabulation of Perceived Health and Working as a Volunteer	68
16. Cross-tabulation of Informal Volunteer Activities and	
Rural vs. Urban Community Volunteers	69
17. Cross-tabulation of Formal/Informal Volunteer Activity and Gender	70

CHAPTER 1

VOLUNTEERISM

America has a vast array of social agencies and programs that depend on volunteer support to keep them running. Many of these programs were started as federal programs that have since been turned over to states that in turn passed some of the programs down to local governments who often do not have the means to fully fund them. The trickle down effect of budget cuts frequently means, then, that special programs either shut down or have to manage with less funding. Some are almost entirely dependent on volunteers to do much of the work.

Over the years, citizens of the United States have been encouraged by their presidents to step up to the challenge in volunteer needs. Each year a National Volunteer Week is announced and promoted through presidential proclamation by the current president as he urges all Americans to express their appreciation to the nation's volunteers, along with pleas to promote the spirit of volunteerism and inspire a commitment to service in families and communities. George H. W. Bush will long be remembered for his "Thousand Points of Light" idea, exhorting every American to make a difference in his or her neighborhood or social environment. In his 1999 recognition of National Volunteer Week, President Bill Clinton admonished that "Volunteers will become increasingly vital to our society as we enter a new millennium. We cannot rely solely on charitable contributions or government programs to address the challenges we see in our communities" ("Proclamation 7186 – National Volunteer Week, 1999" 1999). In 2003, the volunteerism message was brought close to home in East Tennessee, as President George W. Bush addressed a group of citizens in Knoxville, also encouraging volunteers to step forward in the "Volunteer State" to take a stand and dig in to help others in need. After all, we

are the Volunteer State and are proud to step forward and serve our friends, our communities, and our country.

We hear a great deal about the elderly age group being the fastest growing segment of our population. Often these statements are accompanied with predictions and dire warnings that the increasing size of this segment of society will affect the demands for services of various types, causing an imbalance in the demands on society. Because it is known that aging often means special needs, civic leaders may reason that increasing this segment of society will also increase the demand for more volunteers. Wherever we look, however, we see evidence that older people are active in their communities, helping with the workload in places and times of need. Ferraro (2001) cites work by Herzog and Morgan in which they concluded "many older people contribute to society by helping each other as well as members of younger generations" (Herzog and Morgan 1992:197). Indeed, our aging population has a wealth of attributes and abilities that are in part being used in ways that offset any increased demands that their increasing numbers may cause.

One may reason that retired persons are the perfect solution for meeting needs in other segments of society. Often people are encouraged to retire before they feel ready to do so and therefore need something to do. Because retirement can be a lonely time, volunteering in the community can assuage that loneliness, while also helping retirees establish new role identities to replace those lost as they move into a retirement lifestyle after years in their master status as employed people. Volunteering insures that older people are included in society rather than excluded, and society gains a vast supply of human resource (Hagestad and Dannefer 2001:13) as mature adults step forward to lend support in their communities.

Researchers have found one benefit of volunteering is that staying active provides selfworth and gives meaning to life for the retiree (Riekse and Holstege 1996). According to Atchley (1972), an increase in social activity in later years relates to a more positive and successful adjustment to aging (p. 204). Volunteering in community service provides opportunities for engagement, activity, acquaintanceship, and growth. Further, mature older adults have the time, the know-how, and most have come into adulthood with positive attitudes. They are experienced workers, family members, and citizens, and they constitute a rich repository of roles that model integrity, reliability, dependability, and discipline to responsible assignments, for younger generations (Freedman 1997). According to Erikson's eight stages of the life cycle, people who have aged successfully are generative in nature, care about younger generations, and want to pass along the wealth of knowledge and expertise they have accumulated (Hergenhahn and Olson 1999; Freedman 1997). Erikson considered social activism and generally contributing to the welfare of society to be generativity – the instinctual drive to pass on to the next generation what they have learned in life while at the same time satisfying the "need to be needed" (Boeree 1997: Freedman 1997:55). Additionally, as the "baby boomer" cohort comes into retirement, numbers of volunteers from amidst their ranks should be plentiful.

This thesis investigates the non-family volunteer involvements of people aged 55 and older, with focus on factors related to variants of volunteerism among mature adults in rural and urban communities. Secondarily, this study looks at the overall volunteer needs of agencies and organizations in Northeast Tennessee and their supply of mature adult volunteers.

Statement of the Problem

Volunteer services are needed in many areas throughout American society. In an effort to meet the needs of aging citizens alone, many federal, state, and local programs have been

established. Most programs, such as food centers and nutrition programs, transportation programs, home maintenance, housing location, legal services, long-term care, hospice programs, friendly visitation, and social activities, depend on volunteers for their staffing and getting the job done.

Projections for population growth among the elderly are well known and accepted. It must be anticipated that a proportionate demand for the various services that provide for the elderly population will accelerate accordingly. Due to cutbacks in government and private funding, civic programs that benefit the public already depend on volunteer involvement. It would be helpful to know what motivates people to volunteer among any segment of the population, but most especially among senior adults in Northeast Tennessee. Further, it would be of interest to know whether those volunteer efforts are personally fulfilling to senior adults who give time and effort to their communities in a generative way and whether volunteerism, as a social activity, is indicative of successful individual social adjustment to aging.

Old age usually means retirement from paid work and loss of the master status with which an individual has been identified throughout his/her adult years. Kart and Kinney (2001) warn that retirement is seldom easy and that adequate finances, good health, and social activities positively affect adjustment to retirement (p. 347). While some elders welcome retirement and even retire early, others find it stressful and prefer working past the age of 65 or even 70. Whatever the age of retirement, volunteerism can bridge the gap between paid work and community needs while giving volunteers a sense of personal well-being, being needed, and "giving back" to their community in ways that fill their empty time and fulfill their personal needs and altruistic tendencies. Loeser (1974) expressed the belief that volunteering is socially beneficial and that "the volunteer scene itself can become an equalizing force, a platform for

social intercourse, understanding, and change" (p. 24). Both in response to role loss and as a function of increased time availability, volunteer activity may increase following exit from the paid labor force (Mutchler, Burr, and Caro 2003).

Significance of the Problem

Research on mature adult volunteerism is limited, yet Northeast Tennessee has many programs and areas that need and use older volunteers. The results of this study should be of regional interest to program administrators and/or supervisors, as well as groups that undertake civic programs, to understand the demographic profile and the motivations of volunteers so that they can better recruit and retain volunteers. Organizations in need of volunteers could adapt their recruitment efforts to solicit the wealth of untapped talents and resources that senior citizens have to contribute, while also fulfilling the older adult's need for identity, a functional role in society, and further enhancing his or her personal well-being and health benefits. By using senior adult volunteers in selected service roles, the demands made on the time and energy of other participants would be reduced (Miller 1965).

Plan of Research and Data Source

As a means of data collection and because this is a purposive study rather than an experimental investigation, this study was conducted in two phases and employed two separate survey questionnaires. The data used in this study were collected from volunteer mature adults in Northeast Tennessee via a questionnaire - the Survey of Variants of Volunteerism, and from a second, mail-out questionnaire survey – the Agency/Organization Questionnaire.

The survey of variants is intended to learn more about the demographic picture of Northeast Tennessee's mature adult volunteers and to learn more about what motivates them to volunteer. This survey also explores the link between volunteerism and religiosity, whether or

not volunteers subjectively consider themselves to be in as-good-as, or better, health than their cohorts who do not volunteer, and the differences between informal and formal volunteerism and between rural and urban volunteerism. Some limitations of this research included:

- The geographical size of the First Tennessee Development District made it difficult for the principal investigator to make personal contact with each volunteer group.
- Directors of senior centers requested specific numbers of questionnaires, but the principal investigator had no control over the number of members who actually received questionnaires.
- While this study was designed to learn more about the mature adult volunteers
 in Northeast Tennessee, it does not meet the probability sample criterion and
 the results may not be generalized to the mature adult population of Northeast
 Tennessee.
- Some volunteers were either reluctant to complete the questionnaire, or they
 chose to not complete portions of it.

The mail-out questionnaire was sent to agencies, churches, and other civic organizations to inquire about their volunteer needs and what percentage of their volunteer staff falls in the 55+ age group. Responses from the Agency/Organization Questionnaire survey should give an idea of the overall volunteer numbers needed in Northeast Tennessee and the percentage of those volunteering that are believed to come from the ranks of mature adults in Northeast Tennessee. It is felt that a mail-out survey is advantageous as the most appropriate method of survey administration because of the low cost of mail-out surveys versus in-person or telephone interviewing and because of the time, distance, and car expense involved in attempting to contact

widespread agencies. While this study focused on senior centers and volunteer agencies within the Northeast Tennessee region, as well as other known retired and/or senior groups, it was not possible to obtain a complete list of volunteer agencies for random, more representative sampling or to contact all the civic agencies, churches and interest groups that use adult volunteers.

Another disadvantage of the mail-out survey includes a lower overall response rate which may be magnified in some agencies due to work overload, shortage of paid personnel at the agency or institution, and/or lack of record keeping.

The plan is to use data from the survey to test hypotheses that center around volunteerism. Statistical computation will be used to analyze the data and provide descriptive analysis via the SPSS program.

CHAPTER 2

REVIEW OF RELEVANT LITERATURE

Americans tend to associate the term "senior citizen" or "senior adult" with retired people or adults who attain a certain age. There seems to be no absolute consensus for defining older, mature adults, however. The age of 65 came to be a point of demarcation in 1935 when President Franklin D. Roosevelt signed the Social Security Act (Hillier and Barrows 1999) and made it possible for older people to have a small pension (Macionis 2002:121). It came to be generally expected as a "rite of passage" that people would disengage from their work careers at the age of 65, and many organizations then mandated retirement by the age of 65. This remained so until amendments to the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1986 (ADEA) made mandatory retirement for most employees at a particular age (usually 65) illegal (Kart and Kinney 2001; Thorson 2000:310). While some people do work longer, many others may retire as early as the age of 55 if they are financially able to do so. Most government agencies, for instance, offer pension benefits starting at age 55 and look for retirement from their employees at that age. During sporadic cost-cutting episodes, it is quite common for government agencies to propose earlier retirement "buy out" from employees who are getting close to retirement age. Fifty-five is also the age when many businesses and service agencies offer "senior citizen" benefits and discounts for shopping and services.

Collectivistic Roots of Volunteerism vs. Cultural Individualism

The history of elderly volunteering goes back to the Great Depression in the 1930s, through World War II, and into the present (Soo and Gong-Soog 1998), in both formal and informally organized service. Eckstein (2001) distinguishes between collectivistic roots of

volunteerism, which she shows to have group, community, and class stratifying effects, and volunteerism grounded in American cultural individualism. Although the two may be intertwined, each has distinct roots, dynamics, and impacts (p. 829). Collectivistic-rooted volunteerism is group-induced; groups (organizations, institutions) coordinate the activity and volunteerism may be the result of group embeddedness or leadership initiative over and above reasons for individual motivation. Further, collectivistic-grounded volunteerism is bounded by norms and networks and involves group resources that may symbolically bestow legitimacy, honor, or moral support to the volunteer (Eckstein 2001). Volunteer work may be delivered through local programs – churches, museums, libraries, schools, and nursing homes – or through state or large national programs.

President John F. Kennedy urged the establishment of a National Service Corps, a domestic equivalent of the Peace Corps, which would tap the "reservoir of skill and experience of millions of older and retired people." Although it failed, this proposal was an attempt to breech the "wall of inertia" standing between older people and their communities (Freedman 1997). In 1965, however, in conjunction with the War on Poverty, President Lyndon Johnson announced Federal funding for a new set of programs engaging low-income seniors in community service (Freedman). The programs have been shuttled from one agency to another over the years, but according to Freedman, the current roster of service programs operates on a national scale, involving more than 1,000 projects and more than 100,000 participants.

Despite the many projects, the majority of incentives for older Americans are concentrated in the Foster Grandparent Program (FGP), the Senior Companion Program (SCP), and Title V initiatives of the Older Americans Act. Compensation for FGP and SCP is a taxexempt stipend of \$2.45 per hour (Freedman 1997). According to information from the U. S.

Senate, in 1996 over 490,000 persons aged 60 and older contributed 119 million hours through FGP, the SCP, and the Retired and Senior Volunteer Program. Approximately 80,000 local nonprofit and public agencies had Senior Corps volunteers, whose contributions yielded an estimated value of \$1.4 billion, almost a 12-fold return on the federal investment in the three programs (Cutler and Hendricks 2001:475).

In *Growing Older in America*, Rieske and Holstege (1996) assert that volunteering possibilities for older people are endless, and they describe national volunteer programs that fall under the auspices of the *U.S. Senate Special Committee on Aging* 1993:

ACTION. ACTION is an independent government agency set up to administer all domestic volunteer programs under a single authorizing law. It administers a number of programs aimed at persons in a variety of age groups, including older people.

Retired Senior Volunteer Corps. The Retired Senior Volunteer Corps (RSVP) is a program that offers a variety of volunteer opportunities to persons 60 years of age and older. Volunteers serve in areas of interest such as youth counseling, literacy enhancement, long-term care, refugee assistance, drug abuse prevention, consumer education, crime prevention, housing rehabilitation, latchkey children in after school programs, and respite care for the elderly. RSVP volunteers get no pay, but they are reimbursed for expenses that result from their service.

Foster Grandparents Program. The Foster Grandparents Program (FGP) provides part-time volunteer opportunities for low-income persons 60 years of age and older to help them provide supportive services to children with physical, mental, emotional, or social disabilities. FGP volunteers are placed with nonprofit agencies such as schools, hospitals, daycare centers, and institutions for people with mental or physical handicaps. These volunteers are paid by the hour, but to qualify, they need to be below 125 percent of the federal poverty line. In 1986, opportunities to serve in this program were expanded to non-low-income persons who are reimbursed for expenses they have because of their volunteer efforts.

Senior Companion Program. The Senior Companion Program (SCP) is designed to provide volunteer opportunities to low-income persons 60 years of age and older to help provide supportive services to "vulnerable, frail older persons." SCP volunteers help homebound disabled older persons as well as those in institutions and those enrolled in community health programs. As with the FGP, volunteers are paid if they meet low-income guidelines. Non-low-

income persons can participate without pay, receiving out-of-pocket expenses associated with their volunteer efforts. (Pp. 211-212)

Soo and Gong-Soog (1998) reference other national volunteer organizations in which older Americans might serve, including the American Association of Retired Persons (AARP) and Volunteers in Service to America (VISTA).

Informal volunteerism is seen by Eckstein (2001) as culturally individualistic and differing in structure and organization from formal volunteering, but it may be similar in content. A broader definition of volunteering, informal volunteer activity includes work that is done to assist friends, neighbors, and family members outside the household (Mutchler *et al.* 2003). Informal volunteering or support may include aiding someone in crisis, transporting someone to a doctor's appointment, serving food to a sick neighbor, tutoring a child or youth, baby-sitting, homemaking for a frail neighbor, and caregiving to a friend or relative outside one's own home (Mutchler *et al.* 2003; Soo and Gong-Soog 1998). As an activity directed toward individuals with whom one has personal contact, such as family, friends, or neighbors, informal volunteering may be motivated in part by affection or commitment to those individuals (Mutchler *et al.* 2003:1270). In other words, informal helping behavior may stem from the need to reciprocate assistance from those individuals in the past or to repay a social obligation.

When he visited the United States in the mid-19th century, Tocqueville ([1966] 1969) saw individualism in acts of compassion among Americans and compared them with Europeans who tend to help those within their own class or profession. Americans, he observed, are likely to feel compelled to help across classes and rarely, in the United States, would a man in misfortune feel isolated - "when an American needs the assistance of his fellows, it is very rare for that to be refused, and I have often seen it given spontaneously and eagerly" (p. 571). He further observed that Americans, though perhaps not in a hurry to volunteer their services, are also sensitive, so

they rarely refuse to volunteer. Freedom enjoyed by Americans also teaches them their weaknesses, and though they might not normally need the assistance of others, experience has taught that a situation might arise when help will be needed. American's interest, as well as their sympathy, "prompts a code of lending each other mutual assistance at need" and they tend to show this readiness of reciprocal obligation (Tocqueville [1966] 1969:571-572).

Volunteer needs exist everywhere in society just waiting to be addressed by people with the time, interest, and ability. Matching talents and interests to needs is the key (Riekse and Holstege 1996:213) because it is supposed that both volunteers and agencies are served better when the volunteer has expertise and confidence in his/her work and can provide complimentary skills to staff and other volunteers (Freedman 1997). Reference books that describe various volunteer opportunities for older volunteers, such as Andrew Carroll's (1994) *Golden Opportunities: A Volunteer Guide for Americans over 50*, and *Volunteerism and Older Adults* by Mary K. Kouri (1990) are available at most libraries. Online resources such as www.volunteermatch.org. and <a href="https://www.seniorcorps.org. also are available to provide suggestions on how to go about volunteering ("Volunteering: Giving, Getting and Making a Difference" 2003).

Demographic Profile of Older Volunteers

A demographic picture of characteristics that influence an individual's contribution to social and community services was put forth by Soo and Gong-Soog (1998) as a result of their research on the elderly and volunteerism among the 55 and older population. Their findings indicate that older U. S. citizens who participate in volunteer projects are typically married females who have a college education and a high income (Soo and Gong-Soog 1998). Curtis, Baer, and Grabb (2001) also found education level to be positively related to voluntary involvement. According to Caro and Bass (1998) the significant relationship between education

beyond high school and elderly volunteering has been consistently found in earlier research. Greeley (1997) reports on a study that indicates that people who continued in school after they were 20 years old were twice as likely to report some kind of volunteering as those who had left school before they were 12. As Chambré (1984) explained, "well-educated elderly may be better equipped with knowledge and skills in general, resulting in the increased likelihood and extent of participation in volunteering" (p. 293). On the other hand, there is evidence that among blacks, there are no socioeconomic differences in volunteering: high-school dropouts are just as likely to volunteer as college graduates, and the poor are just as likely to give time as the rich (Musick, Wilson, and Bynum 2000).

Home ownership also is positively correlated to volunteer activities (Soo and Gong-Soog 1998). Putnam (2000) notes that senior adults account for most of the increase in volunteering in the last quarter century. He attributes their increased volunteerism to their place in history as members of the long "civic" generation, not the fact that they have reached a certain age.

In their research, Soo and Gong-Soog (1998) cited the 1996 Bureau of Census' national statistics for 1993 which indicate that 47 percent of senior citizens aged 55 to 64 participated in volunteer work, followed by 43 percent of those aged 65 to 74, and 36.4% of those 75 and older. A survey of the leisure activities of individuals 66 and older by Fontane and Hurd (1996:61) indicated that 60 percent of their respondents perform volunteer work; 20 % serve religious associations. They found that men's most popular volunteer activities were sport-affiliated and social, while women mainly volunteered for hospitals and organizations serving older persons.

Certain types of people are more likely to adopt the volunteer role, and older people are indeed more likely to do so if they have actively volunteered in earlier life (Farraro 2001:321). Personal history with volunteering, according to Mutchler *et al.* (2003), is consistently related to

volunteer activities, and older volunteers are typically continuing a pattern of behavior established earlier in life - "volunteers who have aged" rather than individuals who are recruited into volunteerism upon aging (p. 1273). Farraro cites Ekert's argument of a "busy ethic" that leads retirees to voluntarism and that this is both a statement of value as well as an expectation of retired people, that their lives be "active and earnest" (Farraro 2001:321). Community participation may be an outlet for older people who need to keep busy and is a key form of generativity. While some researchers have found that older women are slightly more inclined to participate in volunteer work, other research has found little difference between men's and women's volunteer levels (Moen 1996:187).

Interested in the connection between personality and volunteerism, Penner (2002) studied the relationship between dispositional variables and volunteerism and found significant relationships among personality traits, religiosity and volunteer activities. Using the Prosocial Personality Battery (PSB) Penner measured "Other-oriented Empathy" and "Helpfulness" and found distinct differences between the two. Other-oriented Empathy scores strongly correlate with measures of personality attributes such as agreeableness and nurturance, but scores on the Helpfulness dimension do not. Conversely, scores on the Helpfulness dimension strongly correlate with measures of dominance and assertiveness, but scores on the Other-oriented Empathy do not (p.451). Penner reports that both dimensions of the prosocial personality do correlate with prosocial behaviors, especially volunteer behavior (Penner 2002).

Curtis *et al.* (2001) compared levels of voluntary association membership for 33 democratic countries from surveys of nationally representative samples of adults from the 1990s. They found that Americans volunteer at rates above the average for all nations. Overall, voluntarism tends to be high in nations that have: (1) multi-denominational Christian or

predominantly Protestant religious composition, (2) prolonged and continuous experience with democratic institutions, (3) social democratic or liberal democratic political systems, and (4) high levels of economic development. More particularly, Curtis *et al.* (2001) cited Lipset's work of the 1980s and 1990s that compared Americans with other nations in their likelihood to "take part in voluntary efforts to achieve particular goals" (p.784). Emphasizing American uniqueness, Lipset (1996:784) also argued that the high association activity in the United States is the result of a distinctively American value system that placed a high priority on individual participation in community affairs. This value system supposedly stems from America's revolutionary past and the separation of church and state (Curtis *et al.* 2001). According to Greeley (1997) the American advantage in volunteering is concentrated in church-related voluntary efforts (p.72).

Stability of Volunteers

Volunteering is usually a relatively long-term behavior (Penner 2002). Quoting national surveys, Penner (2002) asserts that almost 50 percent of the people who volunteer do so on a regular rather than a one-time basis. More than 90 percent of volunteers want to engage in long-term volunteer activities; and once people begin to work regularly as a volunteer, a large percentage of them continue this activity for several years (Penner 2002:448).

Braunschweig and Peters-Davis (2000) focused on the stability of volunteerism among senior citizens. They found that over a 3-year period, older volunteers were stable and contributed at least 4 hours per week in active volunteer efforts. After one year, 92 percent of the volunteers remained active; 89 percent of the initial group was active after the second interview. Thirty-eight percent of those interviewed volunteered at least 4 hours per week.

Additionally, 84 percent of volunteers reported being either satisfied or very satisfied with their

volunteer experiences (Braunschweig and Peters-Davis 2000:322). Volunteer groups might speculate that good individual experiences in volunteering lead to stability in volunteer roles.

Intergenerational Volunteerism

Lewis (2002) asserts that "youth and older adults are the most valuable sources of community volunteerism in the U.S. today." As greater numbers of older adults seek ways to contribute their talents, some communities are devising intergenerational programs that tap into the rich resource of elder volunteerism while simultaneously fostering relationships between youth and older adults. Such programs can give children a sense of history and continuity through contact with older adults and provide older adults with a new zest for life (Halford 1998), and according to Loeser (1974), volunteering helps bridge the generation gap: retirees can team up with younger people. "Such teamwork has obvious additional benefits for both the older and the younger partner" (p. 154-155). School districts, for instance, might use senior volunteers as mentors for teen parents and youths at-risk for drug use, or they might also teach reading skills and tutor younger children. In those programs the students, in turn, may perform service in nursing home facilities. Unfortunately, senior adults remain a tremendously underused resource in many school communities (Halford 1998). Lewis (2002) proposes that more communities should recognize the potential benefits of service learning for older adults and thereby provide them with structured programs to satisfy their demonstrated desire to stay engaged in learning and service.

Bressler (2000) found that older volunteers commonly express a desire to help their communities. They also express satisfaction with the relationships they form with youth, improvements in their personal relationships beyond the program – particularly with young family members, a strong belief that they are having a positive impact on youth, increased

feelings of competence and self-confidence, and an appreciation for productive activity. In communities that have mentoring or intergenerational programs, both the senior adults and the young people report increased feelings of competence and self-confidence, and both groups describe decreased ageist attitudes toward the other generation (Bressler 2000).

Along those same lines, earlier research by Aspras (1997) found that a teaching and community service program in which interaction through educational and social activities between high school students and senior citizens proved successful in teaching students self-discipline, self-worth, and civic responsibility. Taylor, LoSciuto, and Bressler (2000) demonstrated the important contribution that older adults can make in alleviating community problems by mentoring at-risk students. They surveyed three 6th grade student groups to determine differences in drug use and truancy prevention programs when older adult mentors were involved. Statistically significant differences were shown in attitudes toward school, the future, and knowledge of older people, reactions to situations involving drug use, community service, and in mean number of absences from school between groups who had mentoring and a control group that received no mentoring (p. 263). Schuckman (1975) also suggested that older folks and children form a mutual association of love and respect.

Leisure Activities

It does seem that many people have extra time on their hands from their mid-50s.

According to Freedman (1997), studies show that retirement frees an average of 25 hours per week for men and 18 hours for women. Robinson, Werner, and Godbey (1997) report that the reason senior citizens have more free time to spend on social activities and travel is that they are spending less time on eating, sleeping, and grooming themselves, according to The Americans' Use of Time project, begun at the University of Michigan in 1965. The project also found that

religious and other organizational volunteer activity increases with age, and for people aged 65 and older, 50 to 75 percent more time is spent on such activities than for those aged 18 to 64 (Robinson *et al.* 1997). It is this expanding discretionary time that volunteer organizations would like to utilize.

Benefits of Volunteering

It has been suggested that older people are a rich potential source of volunteers (Warburton *et al.* 2001) and even that volunteerism can be conceptualized as a form of productive aging for older persons. Cutler and Hendricks (2001) suggest that benefits volunteering accrue not only directly from contributions of volunteers but also indirectly from savings associated with better health (p. 476). Social researchers continue to investigate and document the health and well-being effects of unpaid community service in an attempt to show the longevity effects of volunteering in both men and women (Moen 2001:188). From the standpoint of the participant, even nominal levels of participation may broaden social networks, enhance self-esteem, or yield other benefits to the individual (Mutchler *et al.* 2003). According to Rieske and Holstege (1996), a primary benefit of volunteering is that staying active provides self-worth and gives meaning to life. Numerous social scientists have shown that assuming the role of volunteer correlates to higher satisfaction with life (Atchley 1972; Thoits and Hewitt 2001).

The relationship between social integration and well-being of older individuals has long been established in the field of gerontology. Role occupancy and activity are seen as important key mechanisms for older individuals' integrating into the larger society, with the notion of social integration being especially salient in women's lives because until recently, adulthood for women has been synonymous with domestic roles (Moen 2001; Rosow 1985). Moen cites

research by Lee and Shehan, who found that participation in voluntary associations was related to women's but not men's well-being (Moen 1996:179).

In a longitudinal study using two waves of panel data from *Americans' Changing Lives* (N = 2,681) Thoits and Hewitt (2001) examined the relationships between volunteer work in the community and six aspects of personal well being: happiness, life satisfaction, self-esteem, sense of control over life, physical health, and depression. Rather than focus only on consequences of volunteer work, however, Thoits and Hewitt (2001) posited that people with greater personality resources and better physical and mental health should be more likely to seek community service. Their results show that volunteer work enhances all six aspects of an individual's well-being and further, that people with greater well-being invest more hours in volunteer service (p.115).

Also using the *Americans' Changing Lives* data set, Musick and Wilson (2003) used three waves of data and found that volunteer work improves access to social and psychological resources, which are known to counter negative moods such as depression and anxiety. Their research revealed that volunteering does lower depression levels for those over 65.

Van Willigen (2000) investigated the relationship between volunteering and the psychological and physical well-being of elderly persons and found that older volunteers experienced greater increases in life satisfaction over time as a result of their volunteer hours than did younger adult volunteers, especially at high rates of volunteering. Her findings also indicate that older adults experienced greater positive changes in their perceived health than did younger adult volunteers (Van Willigen 2000:308). There is caution, however, that the type of volunteer work in which older adults engage may be part of the reason for these effects and that

the volunteer's commitment, not simply the volunteer role, should be considered when analyzing the effect volunteering has on well-being (Van Willigen 2000).

Litwin (2001) also found indications that being actively involved is beneficial for older people. He examined the relationship between network type - consideration of interpersonal environments - and morale in old age, using secondary analysis from the Israeli Central Bureau of Statistics (N = 2,079). Controlling for background and health variables, Litwin's goal was to derive network types and to determine which type had the highest morale. According to his findings, diversity contributed to highest morale while networks within exclusively family or restricted networks had the lowest morale (Litwin 2001). Similarly, Farraro (2001) notes that the benefits of voluntarism appear to be stronger for those focusing their efforts on one organization or reporting low levels of informal social interaction (p. 321).

Oman, Thoresen, and McMahon (1999) investigated the association of volunteering service to others and all-cause mortality with a community dwelling elderly population. They report that just providing older adults with information about opportunities for volunteering increased both volunteerism and their well-being. Results of their study showed that 31 percent of respondents volunteered, and about half volunteered for more than one organization. Those who participated in two or more organizations had 63 percent lower mortality than non-volunteers, after adjusting for age and sex (Oman *et al.* 1999:301).

Earlier research by Luks (1988) contributed to the conclusion by a group of behavioral scientists that doing good may indeed be good for you. The research, in which 1,500 women responded to a survey, linked "helping" with relief from stress-related disorders such as headaches, voice loss, depression, pain accompanying lupus, and high blood pressure.

Approximately 88% of the respondents reported feeling an identifiable physical sensation –

highs, warmth, and increased energy when working for a good cause. Some volunteers reported increased energy, greater calmness, and an enhanced sense of self-worth. Self-reports in that study indicate that nine out of ten committed volunteers consider themselves as healthy or healthier than others their age, and 13% of those surveyed noted a decrease in aches and pains. Luks (1988) cited work by psychologist Jaak Panksepp, who has been studying social and emotional processes with special emphasis on altruism. His work gives clear indication that "it is our own natural opiates, the endorphins, that produce the good feelings that arise during social contact with others" (p.39). Interestingly, respondents noted that altruism's pleasure does not appear to arise from donating money, no matter how important the cause, nor from volunteering without close personal contact (Luks 1988:40).

Pihlblad and McNamara (1965) examined characteristics found in well-adjusted people. They found well-adjusted people were more frequently married than widowed or single, had a higher degree of social participation, both in informal contacts with friends and neighbors as well as in formal associations such as religious organizations, social and civic groups. Their study showed that those persons having the greatest degree of participation and holding more favorable attitudes toward the community tend to have higher adjustment scores (p. 72).

Religion and Volunteering

Religiosity is thought to shape volunteering because most religious faiths promote assistance to others as a valued activity and because religious organizations provide convenient vehicles for engaging in such voluntary activity (Mutchler *et al.* 2003:1273). Sometimes referred to as "selfless service," volunteerism has long been associated with religious involvement (Oman *et al.* 1999). About half of church members volunteer for their churches (Hoge *et al.* 1998), and numerous studies show that older adults generally have higher levels of

participation in religious activities (Robinson *et al.* 1997) than do younger adults (Farraro 2001; Musick and Wilson 2003). Researchers Hodgkinson and Weitzman (Mutchler *et al.* 2003:1273) report that a substantially higher level of volunteering is found among those who attend religious services weekly than among those who do not attend any religious services. Greeley (1997) stated that people who attend services once a week or more are approximately twice as likely to volunteer as those who attend rarely if ever.

According to Musick and Wilson (2003), religious volunteers appear to be more committed to volunteering as part of their life, but according to Wilson and Janoski (1995) the impact of church activism is not felt until they reach middle age. They go further to say that liberal Protestants are the most likely to have been taught by their parents that religion should inspire social action and that they in turn are more likely to replace religious activism with secular activism in middle age (Wilson and Janoski 1995) and presumably beyond middle age into old age.

It appears that many people, older people in particular, are more willing to accept help from volunteers affiliated with religious organizations. The Robert Wood Johnson Foundation, the nation's largest health-care foundation, has spent 20 years testing volunteer programs that provide a vehicle for people who want to volunteer to help their neighbors while also providing older adults with basic help in activities such as shopping and housework. Using grant monies, the foundation helps local communities start "Faith in Action" programs that let religious volunteers help the elderly in need ("Faith in Action" 2003).

A 1993 study of Assemblies of God, Baptists, Catholics, Lutherans, and Presbyterians, that investigated levels of volunteering by parishioners to support church programs, found that conservative and evangelical churches have higher levels of volunteering to support church

programs. Wilson and Janoski (1995) site research by Wuthnow that found not all religious bodies emphasize volunteering to the same degree. Protestants are 11 percent more likely than Catholics to be involved in charitable or other social service activities, and there are marked differences within the Jewish religion regarding service to community. In other words, liberal Reform Jews have a strong tradition of service to the community, while ethnic Jews who lack denomination identification are much less active in general community voluntary associations (Wilson and Janoski 1995).

Curtis *et al.* (2001) point out that religious tradition has an effect on voluntarism because participation in churches and religious associations is largely a function of competition among churches for members. The value of volunteers to most churches is about two-fifths the value of their monetary contributions; Lutherans and Baptists, however, were found to have the highest value, at almost half the current amount of monetary contributions (Hoge *et al.* 1998). Religious organizations typically have many positions that may be adopted by the older volunteer: routine assistance with religious education or benevolent care, lay roles (elder), or perhaps integrating religious and helping organizational interests (Farraro 2001).

Researchers have found that some religious groups, especially Black churches, are more oriented toward networking religious and voluntary activity roles (Farraro 2001:321). Musick *et al.* (2000:1539) found that for all kinds of volunteering except for the entirely secular, black volunteering is more influenced by church attendance than is white volunteering, reflecting the more prominent role of the black church in its community.

Sociological Theories and Volunteerism

Role-theory is social gerontology's earliest attempt to understand the adjustment of the aged individual as s/he goes through the aging process. Role-theory is a structural-functional

view that sees aging as determining people's social roles "independent of their capacities and preferences" (Moen 1996:171). The theory postulates that two changes are inevitable: (1) disengagement from social relationships and career roles or paid work typical of adulthood - role loss, and (2) replacement by retirement and the acceptance of social relationships typical of later years. Typical changes might include fewer family roles but more dependence on offspring and others – new roles and changes in social integration (Kart and Kinney 2001). It seems, however, that some roles individuals maintain throughout the life course are important, especially in the later years. Chambré (1984) cites volunteering as such an example, and certain research has found older adults are more likely to volunteer if they volunteered earlier in life (Farraro 2001), possibly because if they have identity status as a volunteer, society does not expect them to disengage and therefore lose that role. Musick and Wilson (2003) found support for the argument that volunteer work is elevated in significance among populations whose other roles have been diminished.

Activity theory purports that even though aging individuals face changes related to physiology, anatomy, and health status, their psychological and social needs remain essentially the same. This theory suggests that those who age successfully are individuals who stay active and manage to resist the withdrawal of the social world. According to activity theory, the individual who is able to maintain the activities of the middle years for as long as possible will be well adjusted and satisfied with life in the later years (Kart and Kinney 2001). If retiring from work, the person finds some substitute for work, such as volunteering (Thorson 2000), and also will replace old friends and loved ones who die with new ones. Allowing that physical limitations and circumstances make giving up some things a necessity, activity theory expresses the concept that age-appropriate replacements should be found, and that the happy older person

is an active older person (Thorson 2000:53). Kart and Kinney (212-213) point out one problem with the activity theory is that it assumes individuals have control over their social situations and the capacity to construct their lives by substituting new roles and activities for lost ones.

Another problem with activity theory is that while often associated within the framework of psychological well-being of older adults, it also proposes that any kind of activity can substitute for the loss experienced. Activity theory fails to account for what happens to people who cannot maintain the standards of middle age or cannot adjust to substantial changes in the environment (Kart and Kinney).

Social exchange theory is built on the notion that an exchange of resources takes place in all interpersonal interactions. In other words, individuals only engage in an exchange if they perceive a favorable cost/benefit ratio or if they see no better alternatives (Thorson 2000). As individuals become older, however, the resources they are able to bring to the exchange begin to shift, and older individuals who withdraw from social activities may perceive their personal resources as diminished to the point where they have little left to bring to an exchange, thus leading to their increasing seclusion from social interactions (Kart and Kinney). Exchange theory bases its explanation of the realignment of roles, values, and contributions of older adults on this assumption. From such a standpoint, it seems that volunteerism on the part of older adults could be viewed not as an altruistic activity but as fulfilling an emotional need that provides personal gain for the individual both in the present and for future needs of social support.

CHAPTER 3

RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

The data considered for this study were obtained from a purposive survey of mature adults, 55 years of age and older, and agencies/organizations/churches located in communities that are within counties that comprise the First Tennessee Development District. These counties are: Carter, Greene, Hancock, Hawkins, Johnson, Sullivan, Unicoi, and Washington. The purpose of this research is to gain an understanding of the variants of the non-family social involvements of people in Northeast Tennessee.

The primary goals of this research are to determine the demographic profile of mature adult citizens in Northeast Tennessee who volunteer their time in charitable civic endeavors, to determine and compare similarities and differences between volunteers in rural communities and those of more urban communities, and to investigate the extent of and reason for their volunteerism. A secondary goal is to determine the volunteer needs of agencies that utilize volunteers and what proportions of volunteers fit the age group of 55 and older.

Arrangements were made by telephone to distribute The Survey of Variants of Volunteerism to various senior centers, or to their directors at the First Tennessee Development District Area Agency on Aging and Disability (FTAAA&D), by the principal investigator. The directors then made the questionnaire available on site at their respective centers. Personal presentation was also made to one senior adult monthly study group and to a group of retirees who convene at monthly luncheons. Overall, 280 questionnaires were distributed. In the cases where directors were charged with distribution of the surveys, the principal investigator later collected the returned surveys from FTAAA&D. In two cases, completed surveys were retrieved

from senior center volunteer coordinators, and one questionnaire was received through the mail. One respondent did not meet the age requirement for this study and one respondent completed two questionnaires, from two different group contacts. Of the 280 questionnaires distributed, data from 162 respondents are included in this study.

It is well known that many agencies and organizations, including hospitals and historic sites, as well as churches are involved with, and depend heavily on, volunteer workers to meet their goals in community service. The second phase of this study was mailed to known volunteer agencies, organizations, hospitals, parks, and historical sites in the Northeastern region of Tennessee. An effort was made to include names and addresses with geographic diversity within the First Tennessee Development District. Overall, questionnaires were mailed to 42 churches or Christian affiliated groups, 14 hospitals, health departments, and adult care centers such as nursing or assisted living facilities, 5 park or historic sites, 35 civic organizations, and 11 federally funded agencies.

The Agency/Organization Questionnaire inquires about the need for volunteers and what proportion of volunteers within an agency/organization are 55 years of age and older. The questionnaire was mailed, along with stamped and return addressed envelopes, to 107 agencies, historic sites, churches, or civic organizations that were presumed to have need of volunteers to fulfill obligations for public or humanitarian services. Organizations' names and addresses for this mail-out were compiled from current telephone directories, while churches were selected from the 2001 Church Guide, a publication that lists churches by denomination, and from on-line listings and telephone directories for communities not represented in the guide. An attempt was made to include churches from each of the various sects, denominations, or religions and with geographic diversity. Seven (6.5%) questionnaires were returned by the U.S. Postal Service due

to insufficient addresses, lack of mail receptacle, or change of address with no forwarding address. Of the 100 questionnaires that are presumed to have reached the intended addresses, 28 completed questionnaires were returned by mail, from agencies, organizations, or churches, which is a 28% response rate.

Questions. The study was undertaken primarily to answer the following questions:

- 1. What are the general characteristics of the senior citizen volunteer workforce in Northeast Tennessee?
- 2. Do more women than men volunteer in Northeast Tennessee?
- 3. What are the motivations of mature adults who volunteer their time in various community causes? Is their volunteerism an altruistic act; do they volunteer because they want to "give back?"
- 4. Do senior adults contribute more volunteer time to the needs of their own age group, to other age groups, to family, or to general societal needs?
- 5. Are senior adults who volunteer likely to believe they are in better health, in general, than their peers?
- 6. Are mature adults who volunteer likely to be active in religious services?
- 7. Are there differences in formal vs. informal volunteerism between rural mature adult volunteers and urban mature adult volunteers in Northeast Tennessee? Are rural respondents more likely to report volunteer activity toward family and friends as opposed to obligations through formal volunteer behavior?
- 8. Do male volunteers concern themselves more with formal or with informal volunteer activities, compared to female volunteers?

The Instrument

The Agency/Organization Questionnaire Regarding Volunteerism (see Appendix A) is designed with both open-ended and closed-ended questions to elicit information about the size of each agency's volunteer staff compared to the paid staff. This is an attempt to see if the agency judges its number of volunteers as optimum or sufficient to run its program efficiently and/or

successfully. Questions are formulated to identify the number of people 55 and older who serve as volunteers in each agency. Question 11 asks for the number of volunteers by age and gender and will be used to compare male volunteerism versus female volunteerism. Questions 13 thru 15 will yield data about the reliability of volunteers and whether there is a steady supply of volunteers in the Northeast Tennessee region. Where applicable, data collected from the survey in Appendix A is to be cross-referenced with data collected from the survey as shown in Appendix B.

A separate questionnaire, Survey of Variants of Volunteerism (see Appendix B), was distributed to a sample of older citizens in Northeast Tennessee, in order to obtain some general estimates of the characteristics of those who volunteer in this region of Tennessee. This survey requests useful demographic information and should generally describe the characteristics of those who volunteer in this region of Tennessee. The dependent variable "volunteerism," represented in item number 24, is used to determine relevance to this study.

Conceptualization and Operationalization of Variables

Definitions of terms. Definitions for terms used in this study are as follows:

[&]quot;Mature Adult" refers to any person 55 years old or older.

[&]quot;Volunteer" is defined as any person who willingly gives of his/her time to a charitable, civic, social, or neighborhood program, church, hospital, or school on a regular basis and without expectation of monetary compensation.

[&]quot;Formal volunteerism" refers to work that is similar to paid work in that it consists of performing assigned tasks for specified time periods within the context of a formal organization.

[&]quot;Informal volunteer activity" or "volunteer support" are defined as the freely given charitable care one provides in assisting a neighbor, friend, family member not of the same household, who may be sick or in crisis.

"Motivation" is defined as an inner quality or an external stimulus that is a causal factor in a person's volunteerism. Causal factors may result from the person's feelings, beliefs, values, or expectations.

"Religious" is subject to the individual's own symbolic interpretation of his/her belief of and devotion to God, church or activities connected with religion, and the teachings of his/her church

"Northeast Tennessee" is defined as the eight counties that encompass the First Tennessee Development District – Carter, Greene, Hancock, Hawkins, Johnson, Sullivan, Unicoi, and Washington.

"Rural Communities" will refer to towns/cities in Carter, Greene, Hancock, Hawkins, Johnson, and Unicoi counties, including Elizabethton, Greenville, Rogersville, Church Hill, Mountain City, and Erwin.

"Urban Communities" will refer to cities in the more populated Sullivan and Washington counties- Johnson City, Bristol, Kingsport, and Jonesborough.

Definition of Variables. Optional responses for the following variables are listed:

Age: Based on a person's self-reported date of birth, the following categories are used:

55 - 60; 61 - 65; 66 - 70; 71 - 75; 76 - 84; 85 and older.

<u>Sex</u>: Defined as female or male respondent.

Race: African-American; Asian-American; Caucasian; Hispanic; Native American; Other.

Marital Status: Single –never married; Married; Separated; Divorced; Widowed; Co-habiting.

Political Affiliation: Republican; Democrat; Independent; Not interested in Politics.

Household income: Less than \$10,000; \$10,000 to \$19,999; 20,000 to \$29,999;

\$30,000 to \$49,999; \$50,000 to \$79,999; \$80,000 or more.

Education: Less than 12 years; High school graduate; Some college; College Graduate;

Some graduate school; Master's Degree; Doctoral or Professional Degree.

<u>Home Ownership</u>: Yes; No, I rent; Other.

Religiosity: Yes; No; Not sure.

Church Attendance: I attend at least one or more times each week;

I attend at least once each month; I attend on special occasions and/or holidays;
I rarely attend church; I never attend church; I prefer listening to or viewing church programs on television or radio.

Health by Comparison: My health is excellent; My health is so-so, but I am better off than some of my friends; My health is not so good, but I still enjoy many activities outside the home; My health is poorer than that of most of my friends, and I don't get to have many activities outside my home.

Activities undertaken in helping others: I often take care of my parent(s); I often take care of my parent(s)-in-law; I often help a sick neighbor; I help when there is a community crisis or need; I help family, friends, and neighbors when they need a helping hand; I sometimes drive a friend or a neighbor to doctor's appointments; I volunteer time through a civic or church organization; Other.

<u>Frequency of volunteer services</u>: I do not volunteer; More than once per week; One day each week; Two or three times each month; Once each month; On an "as needed" basis; I am on a waiting list to serve as a volunteer.

Age of first volunteer service: Under 17; 18 to 30; 31 to 54; 55 to present.

Volunteer at more than one agency: Yes; No.

According to research by Soo and Gong-Soog (1998), household income, education, and home ownership affect the likelihood of volunteer participation significantly. This study looks at the demographics and socioeconomic factors among respondents in the Northeastern Tennessee region, as well as stated motivations of those mature adults who volunteer, how volunteers view their personal health compared to their acquaintances and peers who do not volunteer, and

whether religiosity might be a factor in the lives of volunteers in Northeastern Tennessee.

Further, this study compares types of volunteerism and time spent volunteering between rural and urban respondents.

Hypotheses

This study investigates the following hypotheses:

- 1. Mature adult volunteers in Northeast Tennessee are more likely to participate in religious activities on a weekly basis than are those mature adults in Northeast Tennessee who do not volunteer.
- 2. Respondent volunteers are more likely to subjectively perceive themselves to be in good health or better off than some of their friends than are non-volunteers.
- 3. Mature adult volunteers in Northeast Tennessee who live in rural communities are more likely to engage in informal volunteer support than are those mature adult urban community volunteers in Northeast Tennessee.
- 4. Mature adult males in Northeast Tennessee who volunteer are more likely to engage in formal volunteer activities compared to female volunteers.

Statistical Analysis

Variables were coded for statistical procedures of analysis, and the descriptive analysis results of the main variables in the study are presented in tables containing frequencies and percentages. Open-ended portions of the collected data are analyzed, condensed, and written as a report of the findings. The hypotheses are tested via cross-tabulations and other appropriate measures that assess association.

CHAPTER 4

DESCRIPTION OF THE SAMPLE AND HYPOTHESES TESTING

Survey of Variants of Volunteerism.

Items 1 through 13 in the Survey of Variants of Volunteerism questionnaire pertain to the demographic characteristics of the study sample. One hundred sixty-two respondents answered the questionnaire. One hundred nineteen (73.5%) were female and 43 were males (26.5%) as indicated by question one.

Question two asked the date of birth which was then coded and grouped into the following: 55 - 60 years old; 61 - 65 years old; 66 - 70 years old; 71 - 75 years old; 76 - 80 years old; 81 - 85 years old; and 86 and over. The largest portion of respondents fell into the 71 to 75 years of category. A distribution of the age groups is shown in Table 1.

Question three asked for the highest grade of schooling completed by the respondent. More than 57 percent of the respondents had acquired some education beyond the high school level. Data for the general population of 55 and older residents in Northeast Tennessee are not available, but according to the U. S. Census Bureau, the 2000 census indicates that the general population of Northeast Tennessee, 25 years and older, had 38.9 percent of residents who had attained education beyond the high school level. In the United States, 51.7 percent of residents 25 years and older attended school beyond high school, and in the state of Tennessee, 44.3 percent of the 25 years and older population have schooling beyond high school. A breakdown of respondent education level is shown in Table 2.

Question four asked the respondent to report his/her current marital status. Of those surveyed, 45.7% were married (74 persons), 38.3% were widowed (62 persons), 8.6% were

Table 1. Age of Respondents

Age of Respondents	Frequency	Percent
55 – 60 (1943 to 1948)	6	3.7
61 – 65 (1938 to 1942)	23	4.2
66 – 70 (1933 to 1937)	36	22.2
71 – 75 (1928 to 1932)	38	23.5
76 – 80 (1923 to 1927)	27	16.7
81 – 85 (1918 to 1922)	17	10.5
86 + years (before 1917)	7	4.3
Missing Responses	8	4.9
Totals	162	100.0

Table 2. Education Level

Years of School	Frequency	Percent
Less than 12 years	26	16.0
High School Graduate	43	26.5
Some College	44	27.2
College Graduate	20	12.3
Some Graduate School	11	6.8
Master's Degree	13	8.0
Doctoral or Professional Degree	5	3.1
Total	162	100.0

divorced (14 persons), and 4.9% were single, never married (8 persons). Two persons were separated, one individual was co-habiting, and there was one missing case.

Question five asked about home ownership. A large majority of respondents, 142 (87.7%) indicated that they own their own home. Fourteen (8.6%) rent their homes and four persons have other arrangements, such as living with a relative. Two cases were missing. The U.S. Census Bureau reported in 2000 that 21.7 percent of the population in the 55 and older age group occupy rental housing units.

Question six inquired about racial identity of the respondent. Of the total, 139 (85.8%) respondents were Caucasian, and 19 (11.7%) respondents represented minority groups (4 African-American, 2 Asian-American, and 13 Native American). It should be noted that in the cases of Native American makeup, it may be that some or all are misreports and the result of pride in their heritage as Americans. Four cases are missing. It might also be noted that the 2000 census reports a total minority population for the eight counties of Northeast Tennessee to be 3.9 percent.

Question seven asked the approximate total income, before taxes, of all members of the respondent's household in the previous year. The modal category was the \$30,000 to \$49,999 range (24.7%), with 22.2% in the \$20,000 to \$29,999 range. Twenty-four (14.8%) cases were missing, which may indicate a reluctance to report income. According to the U. S. Census Bureau (2000), the median household income in the United States in 1999 was \$41,994. The median household income for the state of Tennessee was \$36,360 with a median income of \$28,375 for the 55 and older age group. Table 3 shows the distribution of respondent household income.

Table 3: Distribution of Household Income

Income Level	Frequency	Percent
Less than \$10,000	15	9.3
\$10,000 to \$19,999	28	17.3
\$20,000 to \$29,999	36	22.2
\$30,000 to \$49,999	40	24.7
\$50,000 to \$79,999	16	9.9
\$80,000 or more	3	1.9
Missing Cases	24	14.8
Totals	162	100.0

Question eight asked about personal religiosity and question nine, an open-ended question, inquired about religious affiliation, if any. Response categories for religiosity were "Yes," "No," or "Not sure." An overwhelming majority, 87 percent (141 persons) indicated that they are religious. Twelve respondents replied "No," two respondents were "Not sure," and 7 cases were missing. Most respondents who replied to the question of affiliation in item nine, gave their membership denomination, rather than simply "Protestant," Catholic," or "Jewish." Thirty-four percent of respondents reported affiliation with a Baptist church. Table 4 shows the varied distribution of respondent reports of religious affiliation.

Question 10 asked how often the respondent attended church or religious services.

Respondents reporting attendance one or more times each week totaled 130 (80.2%).

Interestingly, some respondents who reported they were not religious do report attending church more than once each week. The frequency of church or religious service attendance is shown in Table 5.

Item 11 was open-ended and posed the question, "what type of work do you do, or did you perform, in your occupational career?" Of the completed responses, there was no way to determine categories to account for the diversity in jobs. Many respondents left the item blank, while others wrote their current status "retired." It is supposed that lack of careful reading might account for this.

Question 12 asked if the respondent is retired – "Yes," "No," or "Plan to retire in 6 months." Slightly over 90 percent (147) of the respondents indicate they are retired, 11 (6.8%) said "No." Four cases were missing.

Item 13 asked about political affiliation. The highest category of affiliation proved to be Democrat (41.4%) with 67 respondents. This reporting is in contrast to the overall population of

4: Distribution of Religious Affiliation

Reported Affiliation	Frequency	Percent
Baptists of all categories	55	34.0
Methodists of all categories	24	14.8
Presbyterian	6	3.7
Christian	17	10.5
Born again Christian	1	.6
Lutheran	5	3.1
Catholic	9	5.6
Episcopalian	3	1.9
Protestant	10	6.2
Salvation Army	1	.6
Pagan	1	.6
Celebration Church	1	.6
Church of God	1	.6
Church of Christ	2	1.2
None	2	1.2
Missing cases	24	14.8
Totals	162	100.0

Table 5: Church or Religious Service Attendance

Level of Attendance	Frequency	Percent
One or more times each week	130	80.2
At least once each month	7	4.3
On special occasions and/or holidays	5	3.1
Rarely attend church	7	4.3
Never attend church	8	4.9
Prefer listening to or viewing church	1	.6
programs on television or radio Missing Cases	4	2.5
Totals	162	100.0

Northeast Tennessee, which historically has maintained a predominant Republican constituency since the Civil War. Frequency of Political Affiliation is shown in Table 6.

Item 14 invited respondents to check off which leisure activities they enjoy from the list of options that included "Helping Other People." Ninety-eight (60.4%) respondents listed helping other people as a leisure activity they enjoy. Four cases were missing. There was no measure of whether the leisure activities were new in older age or if they were a continuation of the respondent's life-course leisure activities. Reported activities are shown in Table 7.

Question 15 asked whether the respondent had volunteered earlier in life, before the age of 55. "Yes" was the response in 89 (54.9%) cases; 69 (42.6%) respondents indicated they had not volunteered before the age of 55; 4 cases were missing. Item 25 then ascertained when the respondent first performed volunteer service. Options were "Under 17," "18 to 30," "31 to 54", and "55 to present." Up until the age of 55, the largest category was 18 to 30 years old with 31 respondents (19.1%). In all, 73 (45.0%) respondents reported volunteering before the age of 55. Missing cases totaled 31 (19.1%).

Questions 16 through 18 were designed to identify if family obligations perhaps were a factor in limiting volunteerism. Item 16 inquired about older family members the respondent might be providing with care-giving services. Only 28 respondents (17.3%) replied in the affirmative; the largest response was "No," with 73.5% (119 respondents). Given the age group of the sample (55 and older) and particularly that both the modal and median age group is 71 – 75, it is hardly surprising that more respondents did not have care-giving duties for even older parents or family members. Indeed, many mature adults who are in the 71-75 age group are recipients of care from their middle-aged caregiver children. Fifteen cases were missing.

Table 6: Political Affiliation

Party Affiliation	Frequency	Percent
Republican	55	34.0
Democrat	67	41.4
Independent	26	16.0
Not interested in politics	6	3.7
Missing cases	8	4.9
Totals	162	100.0

Table 7: Leisure Activities Enjoyed by Respondents

Activity Reported	Frequency	Percent
Travel	106	65.4
Social Clubs	25	15.4
Cultural Events	32	19.7
Going to the Movies	36	22.2
Reading	111	68.5
Watching Television	105	64.8
Listening to Music	80	49.3
Dancing	29	18.0
Exercise Walking	74	45.7
Swimming	17	10.5
Aerobics/Fitness Training	27	16.7
Needlework	52	32.0
Woodworking	13	8.0
Crafts and Hobbies	29	18.0
Hunting/Camping/Fishing	21	13.0
Hiking	20	12.3
Gardening	59	36.4
Helping Others	98	60.4
Missing Cases	4	2.4

Questions 17, 18, and 19 concerned whether or not the respondent had grandchildren and if so, whether they actively care for them, and whether the respondent lived in the same residence with any of their grandchildren. This question could detect informal volunteer support. More than 78.0% (127) have grandchildren, but only 24.7% (40 respondents) participate in caring for their grandchildren. While this may represent informal volunteer activity, it may also limit formal volunteer activity. Six (3.7%) respondents live in the same residence with one or more of their grandchildren. Missing cases were 4, 37, and 19 respectively.

Question 20 asked if transportation (for any reason) might be a problem for the respondent. The largest response was "No" with 138 (85.2%) respondents. Nineteen (11.7%) said "Yes" transportation is a problem, though there was no space provided for details about whether the problem was mechanical, lack of a vehicle, dependence on others to drive, or failing health/eyesight. Five responses were missing.

Question 21 asked if the respondent's health prohibited volunteering. Again, the largest response was "No" with 141 (87.0%) respondents. The frequency of "Yes" responses was 17 (10.5%). One respondent indicated that "sometimes" health prohibits him/her from volunteering. Only three cases were missing.

Question 22 asked the respondent to subjectively compare his/her health to that of friends of about the same age. Options were: (a) My health is excellent; (b) My health is so-so, but I am better off than some of my friends; (c) My health is not so good, but I still enjoy many activities outside the home; and (d) My health is poorer than that of most of my friends, and I don't get to have many activities outside my home. Sixty-five (40.1%) respondents report their health to be excellent, while 68 (42.0%) respondents perceive themselves to have "so-so" health. Twenty-

five (15.4%) reported not-so-good health, and one respondent reported poorer health than most. Three cases were missing.

Item 23 invited respondents to indicate what activities they undertake in helping others. Optional responses were listed that distinguish between formal volunteer activities and informal volunteering, but because of the invitation for multiple responses, additional categories that show a broader picture of the individual's volunteering spectrum or range had to be coded. If the respondent indicated only volunteer time through a civic or church organization, the response was shown as "formal volunteerism;" if also indicating other volunteer activities, the response was shown as "formal volunteerism plus other activities." If the respondent indicated only one informal activity, the activity was noted, but if more than one informal was indicated, then the response was coded as "Multiple 'informal' volunteer activities." Overall, 74 (45.7%) respondents reported formal volunteerism plus other activities that assist or support others; and an additional 10 (6.2%) reported formal volunteer time only. Multiple informal volunteer activities were reported by 26 (16.0%) respondents. Volunteer activities in helping others is shown in Table 8.

Question 24, "how often do you perform volunteer services?" is the defining question of volunteerism, as pertains to this study. With this one query, the respondent identifies him/herself as a non-volunteer or indicates about how frequently volunteer time is dedicated. Non-volunteers numbered 15 (9.3%) respondents. Most respondents (57 or 35.2%) reported volunteering more than once per week. The second highest category was "on an 'as needed' basis," with 24.7% (40 respondents). Frequencies for item 24 are shown in Table 9.

Table 8. Volunteer Activities in Helping Others

Helping Activities	Frequency	Percent
I often take care of my parents.	3	1.9
I often take care of my parent(s)-in-law.	1	.6
I often help a sick neighbor.	4	2.5
I help when there is a community crisis or need.	2	1.2
I help family, friends, and neighbors when they need help.	20	12.3
I sometimes drive a neighbor to doctor's appointments.	2	.2
I formally volunteer time through a civic organization or church.	10	6.2
Formal volunteerism plus other activities	74	45.7
Multiple "informal" volunteer activities	26	16.0
Other	9	5.6
Missing cases	11	6.8
Totals	162	100.0

Table 9. Volunteerism

Performance of Volunteer Services	Frequency	Percent
More than once per week.	57	35.2
One day each week.	22	13.6
Two or three times each month.	16	9.9
Once each month.	3	1.9
On an "as needed" basis.	40	24.7
I am on a waiting list to serve as a volunteer	3	1.9
I do not volunteer.	15	9.3
Missing cases	6	3.7
Totals	162	100.0

Questions 26 through 29 were designed to get an understanding of the volunteer's dedication of time per month to his/her volunteering activities (question 26), to learn (questions 27 and 28) if some volunteers work at more than one agency or organization, and to learn (question 29) if the volunteer had an understanding of the funding that supports the agency(ies) where s/he volunteers. Item 26 was open-ended, so answers varied from a few hours per month to a questionable "600 hours per month." Responses to question 27 showed that more than half of responding volunteers (82 of 147 = 55.8%) work at more than one agency. Sixteen cases were missing. Question 28 was to be completed only if the respondent worked at more than one agency. Response codes were: (a) two; (b) three; and (c) four or more.

Question 29 asked about the funding of the agency or agencies where the respondent volunteered. Unfortunately, many respondents did not know exactly who or what level of government funding affected their volunteer agency/organization. Thirty-one respondents (21.01%) admitted to not being sure of funding, and 36 (24.5%) left the answer blank. Because so many respondents work at more than one agency, it is unlikely that all sponsoring agencies for a given respondent would have the same source of funding. In other words, some respondents divide their volunteer support between church sponsored activities (private funding) and perhaps a nutrition program that could be supported by state or federal funds, or a combination of both.

Question 30 asked about the groups or age level the respondent worked with.

Respondents were invited to check all categories that applied. Because of SPSS limitations on the number of codes for a given variable, some categories were combined for coding purposes.

For instance, "Infants," "Pre-school age children," and "Children aged 6-12" were coded "Children under 12," and "Adults 65 to 79" plus "Adults aged 80 and older" were coded "Adults 65 and over." "People with physical disabilities" and "People with mental disabilities" were

coded as one category. Many volunteers work at more than one agency, and they often work with diverse groups from one setting to another. Certain volunteer efforts, such as food pantries, actually administer to families with a variety of ages, from children to the elderly, and perhaps to those with physical or mental conditions. Overall, 93 (63.3%) respondents indicated working with more than one category of groups and ages. Allowing for non-volunteers (15 respondents), missing cases totaled 26. Categories served by respondent volunteers are shown in Table 10.

Questions 31 and 32 identified informal volunteer activity among respondents. Ninetynine (67.3%) respondents reported having helped a friend through a difficult time during the past year; 38.1% (56 respondents) reported having taken a friend or neighbor to the hospital. It cannot be ascertained if respondents were reporting the two separate support activities or if there was overlap and perhaps may have involved, in come cases, the same voluntary effort for the same non-family individual. Missing cases, excluding non-volunteers, were 24 and 27 respectively and most likely indicate lack of informal voluntary support activity.

Items 33 and 34 allowed the volunteer respondents to express in their own words why they volunteer and for how long have they volunteered. The open-ended format was provided to give respondents the opportunity to express themselves freely, as opposed to question 35, which gives optional reasons for volunteering. Open-ended responses for Item 33 were coded into common theme categories. Most used responses are shown in Table 11.

Question 35 asked the respondent to choose one response that best reflected their feelings (about volunteering). Thirty-nine (26.5%) respondents feel volunteering allows them to be productive members of society while 20 (13.6%) respondents feel volunteering makes them feel needed; 15 (10.2%) respondents enjoy giving back to their communities; 6 (4.1%) respondents feel everyone should perform volunteer work to help other people; and 4 (2.7%) respondents volunteer because

Table 10. Group Categories Serviced by Volunteers

Groups	Frequency	Percent
Children under 12	1	0.7
Teenagers	1	0.7
Adults under age 65	2	1.4
Adults aged 65 to 80 and over	13	8.8
Sick People	3	2.1
Poor People/Homeless People	4	2.8
Friends, Neighbors, Family	4	2.8
Multiple Groups and Ages	93	63.3
Physical and Mentally Challenged	0	0.0
Missing cases	26	17.7
Totals	147	100.0

Table 11. Primary Reasons for Volunteering

Reason Given for Volunteering	Frequency	Percentage
Volunteering is the result of Christian Faith/Teachings	23	15.6
To help others in need	27	18.4
For self-fulfillment or to feel better	18	12.2
To feel needed	5	3.4
To "Give back" to the community	7	4.8
Other	26	17.7
Missing cases	41	27.9
Totals	147	100.0

someday they themselves may require service programs. Thirty-four (23.1%) respondents marked two or more responses. Cases of two or more selections were coded "more than one response." There were 29 missing cases, allowing for non-volunteers.

Questions 36 and 37 investigated the social aspect of volunteering by asking if the respondent has friends who volunteer at the same agency or organization where the respondent volunteers and whether the respondent has made new friends through his/her volunteer work. In the question of friends at the same agency or organization, 108 (73.4%) respondents indicated "Yes" they have friends who volunteer at the same agency. In the question of new friends made in the course of voluntary work, 122 of 147 volunteers (83.0%) indicated that "Yes" they have made new friends through their volunteer work. Missing responses were 22 and 21, respectively.

Items 38 through 40 asked about acknowledgement of the volunteer's work by the coordinating agency or organization. Question 38, asking whether the respondent's volunteer service is acknowledged in a special way, elicited a "Yes, often" response from 47.6% (70 respondents). "Sometimes" and "No" were chosen by 47 (32.0%) and 7 (4.7%) respondents, respectively. Missing cases were 23.

Question 39 asked for a description of the acknowledgement given, if any, and question 40 asked the respondent to describe the type of acknowledgement the respondent would prefer. These were open-ended and really did not yield particularly useful information because of the relatively high percentage of cases that were acknowledged at least "sometimes." In any event a number of respondents allowed that they do not volunteer for the acknowledgement from others, only for the personal satisfaction and benefit of "doing what is right."

The final question, item 41, asked the respondent if any barriers kept them from volunteering as much as s/he might like. Response categories included: (a) No, (b) Yes, and

(c) If yes, please describe. Responses for (c) were coded into categories as follows: "Yes, personal health issues;" "Yes, family caregiving responsibilities;" "Money issues are a barrier;" "Lack of time prevents further volunteer services;" "Age is a factor;" and "Driving/Transportation/Bad weather." The largest category of response was "No," with 65 (44.2%) respondents reporting no barriers to their volunteering more time; 6 (3.4%) respondents simply indicated "Yes" with no further description. Reported barriers to voluntarism are shown in Table 12.

Agency/Organization Questionnaire Regarding Volunteerism.

The Agency/Organization questionnaire (Appendix A) was designed to learn from the sponsoring organization more about volunteerism in Northeast Tennessee. It was felt that a better picture of volunteer needs in Northeast Tennessee would provide better understanding of what Northeast Tennessee's volunteers, and more particularly mature adult volunteers, are contributing to their communities and to society's needs. Table 13 shows the results of some of the questions posed in the questionnaire. Twenty-eight (28.0% of those who received the questionnaire) agencies or organizations returned the questionnaire. According to responding agencies, 78.6% of them need additional volunteers. Fifty-seven percent of responding agencies revealed that mature adults over age 55 account for one-third or more of their volunteer staff. Two agencies that work exclusively with the aging population, the First Tennessee Development District Area Agency on Aging & Disability and the Shepherd Center of Kingsport, report that 90 and 93.3 percent respectively, of their volunteer workers are 55 years and older. Contact-Concern of Northeast Tennessee, an organization that serves approximately 5,000 community people each year via a telephone help-line reports that 91.6 percent of their volunteers are 55 years and older. Roan Mountain State Park, dedicated to preserving and protecting a natural and

Table 12. Reported Barriers to Volunteerism

Barriers	Frequency	Percent
No barriers	65	44.2
Yes, there are barriers	5	3.4
Personal health issues	24	16.3
Family caregiving responsibilities	5	3.4
Money issues are a barrier	1	.6
Lack of time prevents further volunteering	12	8.2
Age is a factor	4	2.7
Driving/Transportation/Bad weather	2	1.4
Missing cases	29	19.7
	147	100.0

Table 13. Agency Responses to Questionnaire

Agency #	Agency Category A/O/C/P	Total # Volunteers	# Volunteers Needed	# Vols over 55	% of Volunteers over 55	# Female Volunteers over 55	# Male Volunteers over 55
1	2	130	150	10	7.6	3	7
2	1	60	80	22	36.6	12	10
3	2	4	5	1	25	1	0
4	4	50	85	23	46	16	7
5	2	60	100	55	91.6	36	19
6	1	100	100	20	20		
7	2	40	50	20	50	10	10
8	3	10		7	70	4	3
9	1	50	50	7	14		
10	3	925	906	417	47.5	232	208
11	1	24	20	0			
12	2	1000	1200	330	33	150	250
13	1	300	600	225	75	140	85
14	1	100	150	75	75	40	35
15	4	9	8	9	100	4	5
16	1	200	varies	50	25		
17	1	120	many	84	70	42	42
18	3	135	175	126	93.3	66	60
19	2	200	250	42	21		
20	4	130	6	30	23	10	20
21	1	2	4	0			
22	2	2	2	0			
23	1	40	35	2	5	0	2
24	2	91		51	54.9	44	7
25	2	22	35	12	54.5	10	2
26	1	20	30	18	90	18	0
27	2	300	400	100	33	80	20
28	4	2	4	1	50	0	1

Categories: 1 = A (Agency)
2 = O (Organization)
3 = C (Church/Religious Based Group)
4 = P (Park/Historic Site)

cultural resource in Appalachia, reports that 100 percent of their volunteer staff is 62 years of age and older. Interestingly, this facility reports more volunteers than required for optimum efficiency, and it also has a waiting list of 125 percent of the volunteers required for optimum efficiency. The ratio of paid staff to volunteer staff varies from agency to agency and may depend on the population served. Some agencies support multiple age groups in their communities, and few agencies have a sufficient number of volunteer workers.

Of primary interest are the ratio of mature adult volunteers (aged 55 and older) to the total number of volunteers and what percentage pertains to older women vs. older men (see Table 13). Questions about average length of volunteer service and if the agency or organization requests contracts for specified terms of service were also of interest. The typical older volunteers continue in the same volunteer field of interest for long periods. Two (7.0%) agencies reported volunteers with 20 years of service, and nine (32.0%) other organizations reported service of 5 years or more. Approximately 25% of agencies ask volunteers to sign a contract at least some of the time, meaning the volunteer is expected to work for a minimum of one to three years. For agencies at full volunteer capacity, the questionnaire asked if the agency maintains a waiting list; few do.

The questionnaire also asked what type of recognition is given volunteers. Is there an honorarium or a service pin? Are there newspaper articles to describe honored volunteers, or does the agency sponsor award dinners? Space was provided for acknowledgements not mentioned. Fifty-four percent of respondent agencies report award dinners as a means of recognizing and thanking their volunteers; another eleven percent report giving volunteer recognition luncheons. Twenty-five percent of respondent agencies reported acknowledging volunteers in newspaper articles; some agencies publish newsletters for their members and thank

their volunteers there. One agency acknowledges a Volunteer of the Year, while 14 percent award service pins for accumulated hours/years of service; 11 percent give honorariums. Some volunteers are rewarded with socials, receiving personal thank-you letters, and/or the fun of accumulating points for their volunteer hours then bidding on special items at an auction. Others receive small thank-you gifts from time to time.

Last, the agency was asked if they would be interested in the results of this survey of volunteers, for more purposeful recruiting and retention of volunteers. Yes or No responses were provided. It is interesting to note that 50.0% of agencies dealing with children's services are not interested in the findings for recruiting purposes, yet they have a shortfall (20.0% to 25.0%) of volunteers. Results of this research will be forwarded to agencies that indicated an interest in receiving more information.

Testing the Hypotheses

The chi-square test is most often used by researchers when testing whether there is an association between two nominal variables in the population. This is done by computing the cell frequencies that would be expected if no relationship exists between the variables, given the existing row and column totals. The expected cell frequencies are then compared to the observed frequencies in the cross-tabulation table. If no relationship exists between the variables in the sample, then any deviation from the expected values are due to chance or sampling error. While some small deviations can be reasonably expected, large deviations, which produce large chi-square values, are unlikely. Thus, large chi-square values imply that a relationship or condition of dependence exists between the two variables. The chi-square is based on the null-hypothesis that assumes there is no relationship between the two variables in the total population.

Sufficiently large chi-square values produce small p-values (<.05) that constitute sufficient evidence to reject the null hypothesis of independence, i.e., no association between the variables.

The chi-square test assumes a random sample. This purposive study acknowledges the lack of randomness in this study, and in this instance, chi-square is used more as an indicator of a possible association between the variable under consideration. Results should not be taken as a definitive test of whether an association exists in the population and should not be generalized to the general population. Because of the relatively small sample, (n = <1000) an alpha level of .05 will be used to determine whether there is a possible association.

Hypothesis 1 states that: Mature adult volunteers in Northeast Tennessee are more likely to participate in religious activities on a weekly basis than are those mature adults in Northeast Tennessee who do not volunteer. The cross-tabulation in Table 14 indicates that 115 (92.0%) respondent volunteers reported they attend religious service one or more times per week compared to 10 (8.0%) who reported not attending religious services at least once per week. With one degree of freedom and a .05 level of significance, our obtained chi-square of 5.96 is unlikely under the null hypothesis. Therefore, we reject the null since there does appear to be an association between the two variables.

Hypothesis 2 states that: Respondent volunteers are more likely to subjectively perceive themselves to be in good health or better off than some of their friends than are non-volunteers. One hundred nineteen (91.5%) respondent volunteers report that they perceive themselves to be in good health or better off than some of their friends, compared to 22 (88.0%) of the 25 respondents who also volunteer but perceive their health to be not so good or poorer than most. (See Table 15.) The chi-square value of $\underline{.628}$ with one degree of freedom results in p > .05. This

indicates that there is virtually no association between the variables "Perceived Health" and "Volunteerism" in this sample.

Hypothesis 3 states that: Mature adult volunteers in Northeast Tennessee who live in rural communities are more likely to engage in informal volunteer support than are those mature adult urban community volunteers in Northeast Tennessee. As Table 15 demonstrates, informal volunteer support among rural communities is compared with informal volunteer support among urban communities. Fourteen (43.8%) of rural volunteers reported informal volunteer activities compared to 43 (36.4%) of urban volunteers reporting informal volunteer support. Based on the chi-square value of .672 (p > .05), we fail to reject the null hypothesis since there is the possibility of no association.

Hypothesis 4 states that: Mature adult males in Northeast Tennessee who volunteer are more likely to engage in formal volunteer activities compared to female volunteers. Crosstabulation in Table 17 demonstrates that 18 (47%) of 38 males volunteers report formal volunteering activities compared to 66 (58%) female volunteers. Based on the chi-square value of $\underline{1.27}$ with one degree of freedom, p > .05. We fail to reject the null hypothesis since there is the possibility of no association.

Table 14. Cross-tabulation of Weekly Religious Service Attendance and Working as a Volunteer

Work as a Volunteer	Weekly Religious Service Attendance			
	Yes	<u>No</u>	Total	
Yes	115 (92.0%)	10 (66.6%)	125	
No	10 (8.0%)	5 (33.3%)	15	
	125 (100.0%)	15 (100.0%)	140	

Chi-square = 5.96; 1 df; p < .05

Table 15. Cross-tabulation of Perceived Health and Working as a Volunteer

Work as a Volunteer	Perceives Health to be Better than Friends about the same age		
	<u>Yes</u>	<u>No</u>	Total
Yes	119 (91.5%)	22 (88.0%)	141
No	11 (8.5%)	3 (12.0%)	14
	130 (100.0%)	25 (100.0%)	155

Chi-square = .628; 1 df; p > .05

Table 16. Cross-tabulation of Informal Volunteer Activities and Rural vs. Urban

Community Volunteers

Informal Volunteer	Comi	nunity	
	<u>Rural</u>	<u>Urban</u>	Total
Yes	14 (43.8%)	43 (36.4%)	57
No	18 (56.2%)	75 (63.6%)	93
	32 (100.0%)	118 (100.0%)	150

Chi-square = .672; 1 df; p > .05

Table 17. Cross-tabulation of Formal/Informal Activity and Gender

Formal/Informal Activity	G	Gender		
	<u>Male</u>	<u>Female</u>	Totals	
Formal	18 (47%)	66 (58%)	84	
Informal	20 (53%)	47 (42%)	15	
	38 (100.0%)	113 (100.0%)	151	

Chi-square = 1.27; 1 df; p > .05

CHAPTER 5

SUMMARY AND DISCUSSION

In the course of acclimating to Northeastern Tennessee, the idea to research volunteerism among mature came from observing older citizens active in their communities, helping out in situations where there was a need. Why, one might ask, would someone who has worked hard and finally reached retirement age take on responsibilities that might be demanding of his/her time and physical strength? The answers are various and are specific to the individual, but there is no doubt that Northeast Tennesseeans have spirit and pride, and they not only take care of their own, they take care of their communities by doing what they can as often as they can, with enthusiasm. This researcher has realized that volunteering in Northeast Tennessee is as American as apple pie.

The purpose of this thesis was to investigate the non-family volunteer involvements of people aged 55 and older in the eight counties of Northeast Tennessee. The primary goal of the research was to learn more about volunteer involvements with an emphasis on factors related to variants of volunteerism among mature adults in rural and urban communities. Focus was placed on variants between rural and urban volunteers within communities of Northeast Tennessee, between male and female volunteers, and self-reports of relative health while also assessing the overall needs of agencies and organizations.

The demographic composite of volunteers obtained in this study was similar to other studies. In other words, volunteers in Northeast Tennessee are predominantly female, married, well-educated, own their own homes, are religious and attend church or religious services one or more times each week. More than half of reporting volunteers indicated household income

above the median income for the 55 and older age group. Politically, the sample was predominantly democrat – a surprise, given the conservative pattern of voting exhibited in the region as a whole. Perhaps this phenomenon may be explained by the timing of life transitions and experiences in the life-course perspective of this aged cohort. Most of them saw the Great Depression as youths and how a Democratic president, Franklin Delano Roosevelt, sought to rescue a nation by signing the Social Security Act to assist the elderly and by creating jobs, including the Tennessee Valley Authority, that directly affected many families in Northeast Tennessee. That same president took their nation to a war that is credited with ending the depression, and his successor, also a Democrat, was tough enough to end the war, bringing peace and opening the door to progress far beyond the imaginings of many. It is possible that as children, this cohort saw their parents believe that politics was for the common man. As this cohort entered early adulthood, advances in transportation, housing, and technology were at their whim. In fact, this cohort was at the helm and saw America's space program come into being, and they were there when their president, John F. Kennedy was slain. This cohort was witness to and perhaps assisted in a war on poverty that had success and directly affected their parents and grandparents, through another Democratic president, Lyndon B. Johnson. Just as importantly, they witnessed the Watergate scandals, the release of mentally-ill and challenged people from protective institutions, and their taxes raised because of trickle-down economics that never quite trickled down to them.

Though similar to other studies, these data cannot be used to provide population estimates with a particular demographic attribute because the respondents were not obtained via random the sampling.

The first hypothesis presented in this analysis was: mature adult volunteers in Northeast Tennessee are more likely to participate in religious activities on a weekly basis than are those mature adults in Northeast Tennessee who do not volunteer. Support for this hypothesis was found to exist among the respondents in this study.

Hypothesis two was: respondent volunteers are more likely to subjectively perceive themselves to be in good health or better off than some of their friends than are non-volunteers. In this analysis, no association was found between perceived health and volunteerism, and the hypothesis was not supported.

Hypothesis three stated that: mature adult volunteers in Northeast Tennessee who live in rural communities are more likely to engage in informal volunteer support than are those mature adult urban community volunteers in Northeast Tennessee. Support for the research hypothesis was not found.

Hypothesis four was: mature adult males in Northeast Tennessee who volunteer are more likely to engage in formal volunteer activities compared to female volunteers. Support for this hypothesis was not found. There is the possibility of no association between gender and formal volunteer activities.

Reviewing the literature based on other studies of volunteerism raises and expands an awareness of the breadth of volunteerism in America. Researchers have used varied approaches in examining volunteerism, its relationships to society and the organizations who use volunteers to meet their goals, and to the individuals who volunteer. Volunteering is believed to be beneficial to most volunteers' health and well-being, and it often helps individuals make the transition from paid work to loss of master status during retirement. It is important that society continue to offer and even expand opportunities for mature adults to remain active in their

communities. By offering an avenue for older people to contribute to the well-being of their communities and therefore to stay connected to society, it is difficult to determine who gains more in the exchange.

Suggestions for Further Research

Demands on community agencies and organizations in Northeast Tennessee are high and probably will increase dramatically as the baby boom cohort reaches retirement age. It is important to learn more about those who step forward to volunteer – what motivates them, what demographic profile agencies should look to for recruitment to fill the ever-increasing need for volunteers. With our aging population, it may be that mature adults will have to spend more time caring for their own aging parents.

Future research may well address the issue of what will be the cost to formal volunteer organizations as volunteers withdraw from formal volunteerism and devote more time to informal caregiving to family. The issue of gender will be of primary interest as researchers investigate whether males undertake more informal caregiving, or will they continue to support formal volunteer programs while mature adult females lend more support to informal care-giving to family.

Suggestions for future research include finding a solution for obtaining a probability sample and consideration of a longitudinal study to track decline of volunteerism with age and perceived benefits of volunteerism from the volunteer's view. Also, future research should consider the following: (1) As the baby boomer cohort comes into retirement, a larger percentage of women will have worked in fulltime professional roles with little time devoted to volunteer work. It will be of interest to note if they tend to volunteer as they retire, or will the

volunteer differences between genders even out? (2) How will the relationship between voluntary activities and membership in voluntary civic/social organizations change with the rapid and dramatic increase in longevity? (3) Do positive, healthy people actively seek out volunteer opportunities, or do organizations actively recruit individuals of these types (or both)?

REFERENCES

- Aspras, Marcie. 1997. "Cross-age Teaching + Community Service = Enhanced Self-esteem." *Journal of Family and Consumer Sciences* 89:28.
- Atchley, Robert C. 1972. *The Social Forces in Later Life: An Introduction to Social Gerontology*. Belmont, CA: Wadsworth Publishing Company, Inc.
- -----. 1976. The Sociology of Retirement. New York: Schenkman Publishing Company, Inc.
- -----. 1999. *Continuity and Adaptation in Aging*. Baltimore: The Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Boeree, C. George. 1997. "Erik Erikson: 1902 1994." Retrieved October 16, 1999 (http://www.smp.edu/~cgboree/erikson.html).
- Braunschweig, H. M. and N. D. Peters-Davis. 2000, October 15. "The Stability of Volunteer Status in Old Age." *The Gerontologist* 322.
- Bressler, J. 2000, October 15. "The Impact of Volunteering on Older Adult Mentors and Tutors and on the At-Risk Youth They Serve." *The_Gerontologist* 247.
- Caro, F. G. and S. A. Bass 1995. "Increasing Volunteering among Older People." Pp. 71-96 in *Older and Active: How Americans Over 55 are Contributing to Society,* edited by S. A. Bass. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press, cited in Soo, Yeon K. and Hong Gong-Soog. 1998. "Volunteer Participation and Time Commitment by Older Americans." *Family and Consumer Sciences Research Journal* 1:146.
- Carroll, Andrew. 1994. *Golden Opportunities: A Volunteer Guide for Americans over 50.*Princeton, NJ: Peterson's.
- Chambré, Susan M. 1984. "Is Volunteering a Substitute for Role Loss in Old Age? An Empirical

- Test of Activity Theory." The Gerontologist 24:292-298.
- Curtis, James E., Douglas E. Baer and Edward G. Grabb. 2001. "Nations of Joiners: Explaining Voluntary Association Membership in Democratic Societies." *American Sociological Review* 66:783-805.
- Cutler, Stephen J. and Jon Hendricks, 2001. "Emerging Social Trends," Pp. 462-480 in *Handbook of Aging and the Social Sciences 5th ed.*, edited by Robert H. Binstock and Linda K. George. San Diego: Academic Press.
- Eckstein, Susan. 2001. "Community as Gift-giving: Collectivistic Roots of Volunteerism."

 **American Sociological Review 66:829-851.
- Ekert, D. J. 1986. "The Busy Ethic: Moral Continuity between Work and Retirement." *The Gerontologist* 26:239-244, cited in Farraro, Kenneth F. 2001. "Aging and Role Transitions." Pp. 313-330 in *Handbook of Aging and the Social Sciences* 5th ed., edited by Robert H. Binstock and Linda K. George. San Diego: Academic Press.
- "Faith in Action." 2003. Parade. November 2, p. 24.
- Farraro, Kenneth F. 2001. "Aging and Role Transitions." Pp. 313-330 in *Handbook of Aging and the Social Sciences 5th ed.*, edited by Robert H. Binstock and Linda K. George.

 San Diego: Academic Press.
- Fontane, Patrick E. and Peter D. Hurd. 1996. "Leisure Activities of National Senior Olympians."

 The journal of Physical Education, Recreation & Dance 67:61.
- Freedman, Marc. 1997. "Senior Citizens: A New Force in Community Service." *USA Today (Magazine)* 125:54.
- Greeley, Andrew M. 1997. "The Other Civic America: Religion and Social Capital." *The American Prospect*, May-June, pp. 68-73.

- Hagestad, Gunhild O. and Dale Dannefer. 2001. "Concepts and Theories of Aging." Pp. 3-21

 In *Handbook of Aging and the Social Sciences 5th ed.*, edited by Robert H. Binstock and Linda K. George. San Diego: Academic Press.
- Halford, Joan Montgomery. 1998. "For Significant Support, Turn to seniors." *Educational Leadership*, 55:49.
- Hergenhahn, B. R. and Matthew H. Olson. 1999. "Erik H. Erikson," Pp. 157-188 in

 *An Introduction to Theories of Personality, 5th ed. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Herzog, A. R. and J. N. Morgan. 1992. "Age and Gender Differences in the Value of Productive Activities. *Research on Aging* 14:169-198, cited in Kenneth F. Ferraro. 2001. "Aging and Role Transitions." *Handbook of Aging and the Social Sciences* 5th ed., edited by Robert H. Binstock and Linda K. George. San Diego: Academic Press, p. 321.
- Hillier, Susan and G. M. Barrows. 1999. *Aging, the Individual, and Society* 7th ed. Belmont, CA: Wadsworth Publishing Company.
- Hoge, Dean R., Charles Zech, Patrick McNamara and Michael J. Donahue. 1998. "The Value of Volunteers as Resources for Congregations." *The Journal for the Scientific Study of Religion* 37:470-481.
- Kart, Cary S. and Jennifer M. Kinney. 2001. *The realities of aging: An Introduction to Gerontology*. 6th ed. Boston: Allyn and Bacon.
- Kouri, Mary K. 1990. Volunteerism and Older Adults. Santa Barbara, CA: ABC-Clio.
- Lewis, Melinda. 2002. "Service Learning and Older Adults." *Educational Gerontology* 28: 655-667.
- Lipset, Seymour Martin. 1990. Continental Divide: The Values and Institutions of Canada and the United States. New York: Routledge, cited in Curtis, James E., Douglas E. Baer and

- Edward G. Grabb. 2001. "Nations of Joiners: Explaining Voluntary Association Membership in Democratic Societies." *American Sociological Review* 66:783-805.
- Lipset, Seymour Martin. 1996. American Exceptionalism: A Double-Edged Sword. New York:

 W. W. Norton, cited in Curtis, James E., Douglas E. Baer and Edward G. Grabb. 2001.

 "Nations of Joiners: Explaining Voluntary Association Membership in Democratic Societies." American Sociological Review 66:783-805.
- Litwin, Howard. 2001. "Social Network Type and Morale in Old Age." *The Gerontologist* 41:516.
- Loeser, Herta. 1974. Women, Work, and Volunteering. Boston: Beacon Press.
- Luks, Allan. 1988. "Helper's High: Volunteering Makes People Feel Good,
 Physically and Emotionally." *Psychology Today* 22:39.
- Macionis, John J. 2002. Social Problems. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Miller, Stephen J. 1965. "The Social Dilemma of the Aging Leisure Participant." Pp. 77-92 in *Older People and their Social World: The Sub-culture of the Aging*, edited by Arnold M. Rose and Warren A. Peterson. Philadelphia: F. A. Davis Company.
- Moen, Phyllis. 1996. "Gender, Age, and the Life Course." Pp. 171–187 in *Handbook of Aging* and the Social Sciences 4th ed., edited by Robert H. Binstock and Linda K. George.

 San Diego: Academic Press.
- -----. 2001. "The Gendered Life Course." Pp. 179–196 in *Handbook of Aging and the Social Sciences 5th ed.*, edited by Robert H. Binstock and Linda K. George. San Diego: Academic Press.
- Musick, Marc A. and John Wilson. 2003. "Volunteering and Depression: The Role of Psychological and Social Resources in Different Age Groups." *Social Sciences &*

- Medicine 56:259-269.
- Musick, Marc A., John Wilson and William B. Bynum, Jr. 2000. "Race and Formal Volunteering: The Differential Effects of Class and Religion." *Social Forces* 78:1539.
- Mutchler, Jan E., Jeffrey A. Burr and Francis G. Caro. 2003. "From Paid Worker to Volunteer: Leaving the Paid Workforce and Volunteering in Later Life." *Social Forces* 81:1267-1293.
- Oman, Doug, Carl E. Thoresen and Kay McMahon. 1999. "Volunteerism and Mortality among the Community-dwelling Elderly." *Journal of Health Psychology* 4:301-316.
- Penner, Louis A. 2002. "Dispositional and Organizational Influences on Sustained Volunteerism:

 An Interactionist Perspective." *Journal of Social Issues* 58:447.
- Pihlblad, C. Terence and Robert L. McNamara. 1965. "Social Adjustment of Elderly People in Three Small Towns." Pp. 49-73 in *Older People and their Social World: The Sub-culture of the Aging*, edited by Arnold M. Rose and Warren A. Peterson. Philadelphia: F. A. Davis Company.
- "Proclamation 7186 National Volunteer Week, 1999." Weekly Compilation of Presidential Documents. 1999. April 19, 35:667.
- Putman, Robert. 2000. *Bowling Alone: The Collapse and Revival of American Community*. New York: Simon and Schuster.
- Riekse, Robert J. and Henry Holstege. 1996. *Growing Older in America*. New York: The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc.
- Robinson, John P., Perla Werner and Geoffrey Godbey. 1997. "Freeing up the Golden Years."

 *American Demographics 19:20.
- Rosow, I. 1985. "Status in Role Change Through the Life Cycle." Pp. 62-93 in *Handbook of*

- Aging and the Social Sciences 2nd ed., edited by Robert H. Binstock and E. Shanas. New York: Van Nostrand Reinhold.
- Schuckman, Terry. 1975. Aging is not for Sissies. Philadelphia: The Westminster Press.
- Soo, Yeon K. and Hong Gong-Soog. 1998. "Volunteer Participation and Time Commitment by Older Americans." *Family and Consumer Sciences Research Journal* 1:146.
- Taylor, A. S., L. LoSciuto and J. Bressler. 2000, October 15. "Mentoring Across Generations: Partnerships for Positive Youth Development." *The Gerontologist* 263.
- Thoits, Peggy A. and Lyndi N. Hewitt. 2001. "Volunteer Work and Well-Being."

 The Journal of Health and Social Behavior 42:115.
- Thorson, James. 2001. Aging in a Changing Society. 2nd ed. Philadelphia, PA: Brunner/Mazel.
- Toqueville, Alexis De. [1966] 1969. *Democracy in America*. Translated by George Lawrence. Edited by J. P. Mayer. Garden City, NY: Doubleday & Company, Inc.
- Van Willigen, Marieke. 2000. "Differential Benefits of Volunteering Across the Life Course." *Journal of Gerontology* 55B:S308-S318.
- "Volunteering: Giving, Getting and Making a Difference." 2003. NARFE 79:19.
- Warburton, Jeni, Deborah J. Terry, Linda S. Rosenman and Margaret Shapiro. 2001.

 "Differences Between Older Volunteers and Non-volunteers: Attitudinal, Normative, and Control Beliefs." *Research on Aging* 23:586.
- Wilson, John and Thomas Janoski. 1995. "The Contribution of Religion to Volunteer Work." Sociology of Religion 56:137-152.

APPENDICES Appendix A

AGENCY/ORGANIZATION QUESTIONNAIRE REGARDING VOLUNTEERISM

The purpose of this questionnaire is to collect data about volunteerism in Northeast Tennessee. Information from this questionnaire will be used for research only and will be held in strict confidence. Please answer the following questions and return the questionnaire in the envelope provided. Your thoughtful responses are appreciated. If you have any questions pertaining to this survey, contact Martha W. Edwards at 423/477-6433.

1.	What is the purpose or goal of your agency or organization? Please feel free to attach a brochure that describes your organization and its goal(s).					
2.	What is the size of your paid staff?					
3.	What population does your agency attempt to reach?					
4.	Approximately how many people does your agency serve in a year?					
5.	Does your agency have a volunteer coordinator?YesNo.					
6.	How many volunteers would your agency need to run at its optimum efficiency?					
	We prefer/need volunteers.					
7.	How many people are enrolled as volunteers at your agency?					
8.	. Is your volunteer staff at capacity? Choose one answer from below.					
	a. Yes b. No c. It usually is, but not at the moment					
9.	Do you actively recruit volunteers?					
	a. Yes, regularly b. No, volunteers seeks us c. Only as needed					
	10. To the best of your knowledge, how many of your volunteers are 55 and older? Please be as specific as possible.					
11	Please provide a breakdown of your volunteers. Please list the number of volunteers in each category.					
	a. Females under 55; b. Females over 55					
	c Males under 55 : d Males over 55					

12.	-	gn a contract for spe No c. Somet	cific periods of service? imes
13.	What is the average le	ngth of service of yo	our volunteers?
14.	Do you have a waiting l a. Yes b. l	list of people who wa No c. Somet	
15.	If yes, how many on yo	our waiting list are 5	5 and older?
16.	Does your agency ack below or describe in the span a. Honorarium b. Service Pin c. Newspaper articular d. Award dinner e. Other (Please described policy)	ace provided. le	s in special ways? Indicate from the list
17.	activities do you also reprovide: Food Center Nutrition progra Transportation Home maintena Housing location Legal services Long-term care Hospice progra Friendly visitation Telephoning Social activities Office work (incl	need volunteers? (Comms programs ance n ms on udes filing, sorting, ng, answering phones)	agency sponsor and in which heck all that apply.) Use volunteers:
18.	Would your agency or your recruiting and rete		erested in the results of this survey, for?
	(a) Yes	(b) No	

Thank you for your time and effort in responding to this questionnaire.

Appendix B Survey of Variants of Volunteerism

The purpose of this questionnaire is to collect data about volunteerism in the Northeast Tennessee region. Information from this questionnaire will be used for research only and will be held in strict confidence. Please answer the following questions and return the questionnaire in the envelope provided. While your participation is voluntary and without compensation, your input is valuable, and your time and thoughtful responses are appreciated. Please do not put your name on the questionnaire. If you have questions pertaining to this survey, contact Martha W. Edwards at 423/477-6433.

Please tell us about yourself by providing the following information. Please circle the letter that best represents your answer or fill in the appropriate blank. The information you provide is confidential and does not require you to identify yourself.

1.	You are: (a) Female (b)) Male
2.	. What is your date of birth?	_
3.	Please indicate the highest gr (a) Less than 12 years (b) High school graduate (c) Some college (d) College Graduate (e) Some graduate school (f) Master's Degree (g) Doctoral or Professions	ade of schooling you completed.
4.	What is your current marital s (a) Single (never married) (b) Married (c) Separated (d) Divorced (e) Widowed (f) Co-habiting	tatus?
5.	Do you own your home? (a) Yes (b) No, I	rent (c) Other (Please specify)
6.	You are: (a) African-American (b) Asian-American (c) Caucasian (white) (d) Hispanic (e) Native American (f) Other (Please specify)	

7. What was the approximate total income, before taxes, of all members of youngehold in the calendar year 2002?							
	(a) Less than \$10,000		(d) \$30,000 to \$49,999				
	(b) \$10,000 to \$19,999 (c) \$20,000 to \$29,999		(e) \$50,000 to \$79,999 (f) \$80,000 or more				
Q	Do you consider yourself	to he a religio	is nerson?				
0.	Do you consider yoursen	to be a religion	as person:				
	(a) Yes	(b) No	(c) Not sure				
9.	What is your religious affil	iation, if any?					
10	About how often do you a	ttend church c	or religious services?				
	(a) I attend at least one						
	(b) I attend at least one(c) I attend on special						
	(d) I rarely attend chur	ch.	nor nondayo.				
	(e) I never attend church. (f) I prefer listening to or viewing church programs on television or radio.						
	,, ,	· ·	. •				
	. What type of work do you had more than one occupation,		perform, in your occupational career? he one of longest duration):				
12	12. Are you retired?						
13. What is your political affiliation, if any?							
	(a) Republican						
	(b) Democrat (c) Independent						
	(d) I am not interested in politics.						

14. What lei	sure activities do y .)	ou enjoy? (Ch	neck all that apply, a	nd fill in blank	for activities
Cult Coin Rea Wat Liste Dan Exe	ial clubs ural Events ng to Movies ding ching television ening to Music		Woodworkii	k, Knitting, Cong s or Hobbies amping, Fish	3
basis,	eer will be defined as to an agency, organiz ms, and activities.				
15. Did you	perform volunteer	work or servi	ce before the age	e of 55?	
(a	ı) Yes	(b) No			
16. Do you l	nave older family r	nembers to w	hom you provide	care-giving	services?
(a	a) Yes – How often	?		(b) No
17. Do you l	nave grandchildrer	n? (a) Ye	S	(b) No	
18. If you ar grandch	nswered "Yes" on dildren?	question 17, a	re you actively in	nvolved in ca	iring for your
(a	ı) Yes – How often	?			(b) No
19. Do you l	ive in the same re	sidence with a	any of your grand	Ichildren?	
(a) Yes	(b) No			
20. Is transp	oortation a problem	n for you?	(a) Yes	(b) No	
21. Does yo	ur health prohibit y	ou from volur	nteering?		
(a	ı) Yes	(b) No			

22. How does your health compare to that of your friends who are about the same age as you?	
(a) My health is excellent.(b) My health is so-so, but I am better off than some of my friends.(c) My health is not so good, but I still enjoy many activities outside the home.	
(d) My health is poorer than that of most of my friends, and I don't get to have many activities outside my home.)
 23. Indicate from the following list what activities you undertake in helping others (chall that apply). (a) I often take care of my parent(s). (b) I often take care of my parent(s)-in-law. (c) I often help a sick neighbor. (d) I help when there is a community crisis or need. (e) I help family, friends, and neighbors when they need a helping hand. (f) I sometimes drive a friend or a neighbor to doctor's appointments. (g) I volunteer time through a civic or church organization. (h) Other 	
24. How often do you perform volunteer services? (a) I do not volunteer (b) More than once per week (c) One day each week (d) Two or three times each month (e) Once each month (f) On an "as needed" basis (g) I am on a waiting list to serve as a volunteer	
IF YOU ANSWERED (a) ABOVE, PLEASE STOP HERE. Thank you for your cooperation.	
25. At about what age did you first perform volunteer service? (a) Under 17 (b) 18 to 30 (c) 31to 54 (d) 55 to present	
26. How many hours per month would you say you currently participate as a voluntee	r?
27. Do you volunteer at more than one agency? (This may include additional volunteering at church, school, hospital, or some other institution.)	а
(a) Yes (b) No	

28.	If the answer to Item 27 is "Yes," please give the total number of agencies or institutions where you participate as a volunteer worker:							
29.	The ager	The agency/agencies where you volunteer is/are: (Indicate all that apply.)						
	b.	Privately funded Federally funded State funded	e.			rnment		
30.	30. Does your volunteer service involve working with: (Check all that apply.) Infants Pre-school age children Children aged 6-12 Teenagers Adults under age 65 Adults 65 to 79 Adults aged 80 and older Substance Abusers Care-giving for the sick Seeing or Hearing-Impaired persons Poor people Friends, Neighbors, Family People with physical disabilities People with mental disabilities							
31.	In the pa	st year, have you he	lped a frie	nd through	n a difficult tii	me? (a)Yes	(b) No	
32.	In the pa	st year, have you tal	cen a frien	d or neigh	bor to the ho	spital? (a)Ye	es (b) No	
	Please d	escribe in your own	words why	you volur	nteer. (Please	use the back o	f page, if	
	Overall, h	now long have you b	een helpir	ng others t	hrough your	current volur	nteer 	

33. Would y	you say mat. (c	moose the response that bes	st reflects your reelings)
(b) V (c) I (d) E (e) V (f) V (g) I	olunteering matering materiory giving bateriory giving bateriory given by the contraction of the contraction	ows me to be a product akes me feel needed. ack to my community. d perform volunteer wor erextends me, and I hav fairly humdrum. I can ta ause someday I may req	rk to help other people. ve little time for myself.
	have friends w	ho volunteer at the sam	ne agency/organization where you
volunteer?	(a)Yes	(b) No	
37. Have yo	ou made new fr	riends through your volu	unteer work?
	(a)Yes	(b) No	
	you volunteer, o special way?	does the agency/organi	zation or institution acknowledge your
	es, often Sometimes Io		
acknowledg	•	d/or others receive from	etimes," please describe the type of the agency, including how often such
	•	on 38 is "No," please de	escribe the type of acknowledgement
41. Are ther	re any barriers	that keep you from volu	unteering as much as you would like?
	(a) No (b) Yes (c) If yes, ple	ease describe	

Thank you for your participation in this research project regarding volunteerism in Northeast Tennessee.

VITA

MARTHA WILCOX EDWARDS

Personal Data: Date of Birth: December 4, 1940

Place of Birth: Athens, Tennessee

Education: Public Schools, Athens, Tennessee

Northern Virginia Community College, Annandale, Virginia

General Studies, A.S., 1981

East Tennessee State University, Johnson City, Tennessee;

Economics, B.S., 2000

East Tennessee State University, Johnson City, Tennessee;

Sociology, M.A, 2004

Professional

Experience: Graduate Assistant, East Tennessee State University, College of

Arts and Sciences, 2001 – 2003

Volunteer

Experience: Navy Relief Society, Camp Pendleton, CA

Red Cross Society, Tripler Army Hospital, Honolulu, HI

LaPaloma Elementary School, Fallbrook, CA

Lake Braddock Secondary School, Burke, VA

Crisis Center, Auburn, AL

Prince William Area Agency on Aging, Manassas, VA

Zonta International, Prince William County, VA

Hospice, Mountain States Health Alliance, Johnson City, TN

Volunteer Ombudsman Representative, Johnson City, TN